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Note to Reader: 
 
This Listing Statement contains the Prospectus of Lotus Ventures Inc. (the “Issuer”) 
dated November 28, 2014 (the “Prospectus”). Certain sections of the Canadian Securities 
Exchange (“CSE”) form of Listing Statement have been included following the 
Prospectus to provide additional disclosure on the Issuer, as required by the CSE. 



 3

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1. Table of Concordance 
 
2. Schedule A: Prospectus of the Issuer dated November 28, 2014 
 
3. Schedule B: Section 14: Capitalization table required by Listing Statement as 

outlined in Section 14. 
 



 4

LOTUS VENTURES INC. 
 

CSE Form 2A Listing Statement 
 

1. Table of Concordance 
 
 Prospectus Page No. 
1. Table of Contents 2 
2. Corporate Structure 13 
3. General Development of the Business 13 
4. Narrative Description of the Business 13 to 19 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information 20, 21 
6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 22, 23 
7. Market for Securities 40 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 23 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 24 
10. Description of the Securities 23 
11. Escrowed Securities 25 
12. Principal Shareholders 26 
13. Directors and Officers 27-30 
14. Capitalization 23, 24 
15. Executive Compensation 31 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 33 
17. Risk Factors 36 -41 
18. Promoters 41 
19. Legal Proceedings 42 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 42 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 42 
22. Material Contracts 42 
23. Interest of Experts 43 
24. Other Material Facts 43 
25. Financial Statements Appendix “A”, “B” 

and “C” 
26. Certificate of the Issuer and Promoter Last Page 
 



 5

2.  Schedule A: Prospectus of the Issuer dated November 28, 2014 



 
This Prospectus is not related to a public offering. No securities regulatory authority has expressed an 
opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. 
 

PROSPECTUS  
NON-OFFERING PROSPECTUS  November 28, 2014 

 
LOTUS VENTURES INC. 

(after the amalgamation of Strachan Resources Ltd. and Lotus Ventures Inc.) 
 (the “Issuer”) 

 
No securities are being offered pursuant to this prospectus. This prospectus is being filed with the British 
Columbia Securities Commission for the purpose of providing full public disclosure regarding the Issuer. 
The Issuer, Lotus Ventures Inc., was formed on November 27, 2014 by the amalgamation of the private 
company, Lotus Ventures Inc., and Strachan Resources Ltd., a capital pool company, pursuant to the 
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) whereby 21,774,000 common shares of Private Lotus were 
exchanged for Lotus Shares on a one-to-one basis and 2,500,000 common shares of Strachan were 
exchanged for Lotus Shares on a one-to-one basis.  The Issuer had applied to list on the Canadian 
Securities Exchange and on October 8, 2014 had received conditional approval for listing, subject to 
certain conditions. Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this prospectus, no proceeds will be 
raised in connection with this prospectus. 
 
No underwriters or selling agents have been involved in the preparation of this prospectus or 
performed any review or independent due diligence of the contents of this prospectus. 
 
The securities of the Issuer are at the date of this Prospectus not listed on any exchange.  Therefore 
there is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to 
resell securities of Lotus owned by them.  See “Risk Factors”. 
 
Unless otherwise noted, all currency amounts in this prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars. 

 
Lotus Ventures Inc. 

910 – 1125 Howe Street 
Vancouver, British Columbia 

V6Z 2K8 
 

Phone: 604-644-9844 
Fax: 604-602-0670
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CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

Certain statements in this Prospectus are forward-looking statements or information (collectively “forward-looking 
statements”) which are based upon Lotus’s current internal expectations, estimates, projections, assumptions and 
beliefs. Lotus is hereby providing cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause Lotus’s actual 
results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Any statements that express, or 
involve discussions as to, expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance (often, 
but not always, through the use of words or phrases such as “may”, “is expected to”, “anticipates”, “estimates”, 
“intends”, “plans”, “projection”, “could”, “vision”, “goals”, “objective” and “outlook”) are not historical facts and 
may be forward-looking and may involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties which could cause actual results 
or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. In making these forward-
looking statements, Lotus has assumed that the current market will continue and grow and that the risks listed below 
will not adversely impact the business of Lotus. 
 
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, both 
general and specific, which contribute to the possibility that the predicted outcomes may not occur or may be 
delayed. Forward-looking statements in this Prospectus include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: 

 the use of proceeds; 
 the intention to grow the business and operations of Lotus;  
 expected sale prices; 
 expected growth in the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada; 
 the number of grams of medical marijuana expected to be used by each user;  
 the proposed executive compensation for the executives and directors of Lotus; 
 the listing of Lotus Shares on the CSE; 
 future liquidity and financial capacity; 
 expectations regarding the ability to raise capital; and 
 treatment under government regulatory regimes. 

 
With respect to the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus, Strachan has made assumptions 
regarding, among other things: 

 the ability of Lotus to obtain necessary financing; 
 satisfaction of the requirements of the CSE with respect to listing the Lotus Shares; 
 the economy generally; 
 consumer interest in the products of Lotus; 
 competition; and 
 anticipated and unanticipated costs. 
 

The risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of Strachan or Lotus, that could 
influence actual results include, but are not limited to:  risks and cost implications and time required for Lotus to 
become a MMPR Licensed Producer; change in laws, regulations and guidelines; limited operating history; reliance 
on a single facility; reliance on management; requirements for additional financing; competition; risks inherent in 
an agricultural business; vulnerability to rising energy costs; unfavourable publicity or consumer perception; 
product liability; product recalls; reliance on key inputs; dependence on suppliers and skilled labour; difficulty in 
forecasting sales; conflicts of interest; litigation; price fluctuation of Lotus’s shares; no earnings or dividend record; 
limited market for Lotus’s securities; and other factors beyond the control of Lotus. 
 
Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as 
required by applicable law, Lotus deos not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to 
reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of 
unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such 
factors and to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on the business of Lotus or the extent to which any 
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statement. See “Risk Factors”. 
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CONVENTIONS 
 
Certain terms used herein are defined in the “Glossary of Terms”. Unless otherwise indicated, references to $ or 
"dollars" are to Canadian dollars and references to "US$" are to United States dollars. All financial information with 
respect to the Issuer has been presented in Canadian dollars in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in Canada. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

The following is a glossary of certain defined terms used throughout this Prospectus. This is not an exhaustive list of 
defined terms used in this Prospectus and additional terms are defined throughout. Terms and abbreviations used in 
the financial statements of Strachan and Private Lotus are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined 
below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context 
requires, include the plural and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all genders. 

 
 
“Affiliate” 
 

Means a company that is affiliated with another company as described below: 
A company is an “Affiliate” of another Company if: 
(a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or 
(b) each of them is controlled by the same Person. 
 
A company is “controlled” by a Person if:  
(a) voting securities of the company are held, other than by way of security 

only, by or for the benefit of that Person, and 
(b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the Person to elect a majority of the 

directors of the company. 
 
A Person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned by: 
(a) a Company controlled by that Person, or 
(b) an Affiliate of that Person or an Affiliate of any Company 

controlled by that Person. 
 

“Amalgamation” Means the amalgamation of Strachan and Private Lotus pursuant to the Amalgamation 
Agreement. 
 

“Amalgamation 
Agreement” 

Means an agreement dated July 30, 2014 between Strachan and Private Lotus as 
amended by agreement dated September 1, 2014. 
 

“Assignment 
Agreement” 

Means the assignment between Carl Busby and Lotus dated April 30, 2014 by which 
the rights under the Option Agreement were transferred to Lotus. 
 

“Associate” When used to indicate a relationship with a person or company, means 
(a) an issuer of which the person or company beneficially owns or controls, 

directly or indirectly, voting securities entitling him to more than 10% of 
the voting rights attached to outstanding securities of Strachan, 

(b) any partner of the person or company, 
(c) any trust or estate in which the person or company has a substantial 

beneficial interest or in respect of which a person or company serves as 
trustee or in a similar capacity, 

(d) in the case of a person, a relative of that person, including 
(i) that person’s spouse or child, or 
(ii) any relative of the person or of his spouse who has the same 

residence as that person; but 
(e) where the Exchange determines that two persons shall, or shall not, be 

deemed to be associates with respect to a Member firm, Member 
corporation or holding company of a Member corporation, then such 
determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the 
application of Rule D with respect to that Member firm, Member 
corporation or holding company. 

 
“Auditor” Means the auditor of Lotus, DeVisser Gray LLP. 

 
“BCBCA” Means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). 
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“Board” Means the board of directors of Strachan or the board of directors of Lotus, as 

applicable. 
 

“Business Day” Means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a statutory holiday in British Columbia. 
 

“CEO” Means Chief Executive Officer.  
 

“CFO” Means Chief Financial Officer.  
 

“COO” Means Chief Operating Officer. 
 

“CSE” or “Exchange” 
 

Means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 
 

“CSE Escrow 
Agreement” 
 

Means the escrow agreement among Lotus, the Transfer Agent and certain 
shareholders, pursuant to which 14,650,000 common shares of Lotus are held in 
escrow. 
  

“CSE Escrow Shares” 
 

Means Lotus Shares that are held in escrow pursuant to the CSE Escrow Agreement. 
 

“Company” Unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association 
or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other 
than an individual. 
 

“Control Person” Means any person or company that holds or is one of a combination of persons or 
companies that holds a sufficient number of any of the securities of an issuer so as to 
affect materially the control of that issuer, or that holds more than 20% of the 
outstanding voting securities of an issuer except where there is evidence showing that 
the holder of those securities does not materially affect the control of the issuer. 
 

“CPC” Means a corporation: 
(a) that has been incorporated or organized in a jurisdiction in Canada; 
(b) that has filed and obtained a receipt for a preliminary CPC prospectus from one or  

more of the securities regulatory authorities in compliance with the CPC Policy; 
and 

(c) in regard to which the completion of the qualifying transaction has not yet 
occurred. 

 
“CPC Escrow 
Agreement” 

Means the TSX Venture Exchange Form 2F CPC Escrow Agreement for Tier 2 issuers 
dated November 19, 2010, among Strachan, the Transfer Agent and the Strachan 
Founders, pursuant to which 1,500,000 common shares of Strachan are currently held 
in escrow. 
 

“CPC Policy” Means TSX Venture Exchange Policy 2.4 entitled “Capital Pool Companies” in the 
TSX Venture Exchange’s Corporate Finance Manual. 
 

“Escrow Cancellation 
Agreement” 
 

Means an agreement date October 22, 2014 among the Strachan Founders and MGK 
Consulting Inc. whereby 1,500,000 shares remaining under the CPC Escrow 
Agreement were cancelled. 

“Exchange” or “CSE” 
 

Means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 
 

“Insider” If used in relation to an Issuer, means: 
(a) a director or senior officer of Strachan; 
(b) a director or senior officer of the Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of 

Strachan; 
(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly,
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voting shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights
attached to all outstanding voting shares of Strachan; or 

(d) Strachan itself if it holds any of its own securities. 
 

“Lotus” or “Issuer” Means Lotus Ventures Inc. 
 

“Lotus Share” Means a common share of the Issuer. 
 

“Management 
Incentive Agreement” 

Means an agreement dated July 4, 2014 between Carl Busby (“Busby”) and Dale 
McClanaghan (“MClanaghan”) whereby Busby agreed to transfer to McClanaghan 
500,000 shares subject to escrow on listing on the CSE. 
  

“Meeting” Means the Annual General and Special Meeting of the shareholders of Strachan held 
on October 20, 2014. 
 

“Member” Has the meaning set out in the policies of the Exchange. 
 

“MMAR” Means the Medical Marijuana Access Regulations. 
 

“MMPR” Means the Marijuana for Medical Purposes Regulations. 
 

“Named Executive 
Officer”  or “NEO” 

Means: 
(a) the CEO; 
(b) the CFO; 
(c) each of Lotus’s three most highly compensated executive

officers, other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as
executive officers at the end of the most recently completed
financial year and whose total salary and bonus, individually, exceeds 
$150,000 per year; or 

(d) any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been
provided under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an
officer of Lotus at the end of the most recently completed
financial year. 

 
“Non Arm’s Length 
Party” 

Means in relation to a Company, a promoter, officer, director, other Insider or Control 
Person of that Company (including an issuer) and any Associates or Affiliates of any 
of such Persons. In relation to an individual, means any Associate of the individual or 
any Company of which the individual is a promoter, officer, director, Insider or 
Control Person. 
 

“Non Arm’s Length 
Transaction” 
 

Means a proposed Transaction where the same party or parties or their respective 
Associates or Affiliates are Control Persons in both the CPC and in relation to the 
Significant Assets which are to be the subject of the proposed Transaction. 
 

“Option 
Agreement” 

Means the Option Agreement among Carl Busby and 0998918 B.C. Ltd. and Carl 
Correia dated April 16, 2014. 
 

“Options”  
 

Means options granted under the Stock Option Plan to acquire common shares of 
Lotus. 
 

“Option Exercise 
Agreement”  

Means the agreement among 0998918 B.C. Ltd., Carl Correia and Private Lotus dated 
September 1, 2014. 
 

“Person” Means a Company or individual. 
 

“Private Lotus” Means  the private company Lotus Ventures Inc. which amalgamated with Strachan to 
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form Lotus. 
 

“Prospectus” Means this Prospectus, together with all Appendices hereto. 
 

“Related 
Person” 

Means an Insider, which has the meaning set forth in the Securities Act (British 
Columbia): 

(a) director or senior officer of Lotus; 
(b) a director or senior officer of the company that is an insider or subsidiary of 

Lotus; 
(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting 

shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding 
voting shares of Lotus; or 

(d) Lotus itself if it holds any of its own securities. 
 

“Stock Option Plan” Means the incentive stock option plan of Lotus. 
 

“Strachan” Means Strachan Resources Ltd. 
 

“Strachan Founders” Means Gary Mathiesen, Peter Leitch, William Spratt, Graeme Sewell, Joseph D. 
Zucchiatti, Mark Bolin and Sash Management Ltd., (formerly Southridge Law Corp.). 
 

“Transfer Agent” Means Lotus’s transfer agent and registrar, Computershare Trust Company. 
 

“TSXV” Means the TSX Venture Exchange. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 
 
The following is a summary of the principal features of this Prospectus and should be read together with the more 
detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
 
Principal Business of Private Lotus 
 
By agreement of July 30, 2014, as amended September 1, 2014, Private Lotus and Strachan agreed that the shares of 
Strachan be exchanged into issued and outstanding common shares of Lotus on the basis that each one (1) common 
share of Strachan be exchanged for each (1) fully paid and non assessable Lotus Share and the shares of Private Lotus 
be exchanged into issued and outstanding common shares of Lotus on the basis that each one (1) common share of 
Private Lotus be exchanged for each one (1) fully paid and non assessable Lotus Share. 
 
On October 8, 2014 the CSE gave conditional approval to the listing of Lotus on the CSE subject to the following 
conditions (a) shareholder approval of the Amalgamation (b) obtaining a receipt for this Prospectus from the British 
Columbia Securities Commission; (c) completion of the Financing and (d) confirmation of sufficient shareholder 
distribution. 
 
On October 20, 2014 the Strachan shareholders approved of the Amalgamation. 
 
On October 27, 2014 Private Lotus completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,374,000 Private Lotus shares at 
$0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $343,500. Private Lotus paid $10,000 in finder’s fees. 
 
On November 27, 2014 the Amalgamation was completed pursuant to the requirements of the Business Corporations 
Act (British Columbia) whereby 21,774,000 common shares of Private Lotus were exchanged for Lotus Shares and 
2,500,000 common shares of Strachan were exchanged for Lotus Shares.  
 
The Option Exercise Agreement 
 
Private Lotus has the rights under an agreement dated September 1, 2014 between Carl Correia and 0998918 B.C. 
Ltd. (the “Vendors”) and Private Lotus (the “Option Exercise Agreement”) which replaces in its entirety the Option 
Agreement. Private Lotus agreed to issue 1,700,000 common shares to each of the Vendors for a total of 3,400,000 
common shares at a deemed price of $0.02 per share. Private Lotus acquired Correia’s agreement to (a) be the Chief 
Operating Officer of Private Lotus and the Person in Charge in the MMPR Application (b) to prepare the MMPR 
application on behalf of Private Lotus; (c) assist Private Lotus to obtain approval of the application from Health 
Canada (d) assist Private Lotus to obtain the MMPR License; and (e) assist Private Lotus to negotiate a lease on the 
property on which the facility is located. Private Lotus also acquired Correia’s know-how and experience regarding 
(a) the requirements with respect to the MMPR License process and requirements (b) facility design for application 
for the MMPR License (c) Quality control pursuant to the MMPR License (d) Security requirements pursuant to the 
MMPR License (e) Recruitment of appropriate Alternate Person in Charge and Person in Charge of Quality Control; 
(f) know-how re the growing of medical marijuana, (g) all information, documents and records prepared with respect 
to the MMPR License application and all lease rights to the facility. 

 
Funds Available and Use of Available Funds 
 
Private Lotus has working capital of approximately $333,824 at October 31, 2014 on a consolidated basis after 
subsequent financing. This is for the purpose of accomplishing Phase Two and Phase Three shown in “Business 
Objectives and Milestones” herein. The following shows the funds available and use of available funds. 
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Item $ 
Funds Available for Phase Two  
Working Capital of Strachan at October 31, 2014 ($9,146) 
Working capital of Private Lotus at October 31, 2014  $333,824(1) 
2,500,000 Lotus Shares at $0.005 by Strachan Founders for which 
payment has been made 

$12,500 

Total  $337,178 
Principal purposes for the use of available funds for Phase Two  
Planned Quality Control Training   $30,000 
Estimated unpaid audit costs $9,000 
Regulatory Fees $10,000 
General and administrative costs for 12 months $181,000 
Unallocated working capital $107,178 
Total $337,178 
Funds Required For Phase Three  
Capital which Lotus must raise for the building of its facility  $1,600,000 
Principal purposes for the Funds Required for Phase Three  
Building of Facility $1,600,000 

1. This includes certain creditors who have agreed that amounts payable to them totaling $26,445 will be made payable 15 
months after listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange without interest.  This includes the net proceeds of the Private 
Placement Financing.   

2. In the event that Lotus received Health Canada approval of its MMPR application, then funds will be spent to begin 
upgrading the facility to meet the standards of the application. 

 
The following are estimates of general and administrative expenses to be incurred over 12 months from the date of 
this Prospectus. 

General and Administrative Costs for 12 Months Amount 
Management Fees $42,000 
Rent (1) $6,000 
Accounting and Audit  $41,000 
Legal fees $37,000 
Regulatory and Filing  $6,000 
Transfer Agent  $4,000 
Miscellaneous – office $5,000 
Investor Relations $40,000 
Total $181,000 
(1)  Lotus does not plan to rent office space until after it obtains approval from Health Canada to it MMPR 

license application. 
 
Lotus intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, 
where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Use of net proceeds will be subject to the 
discretion of management.  See “Use of Proceeds”. 
 
Risk Factors 
 
An investment in Lotus involves a substantial degree of risk and should be regarded as highly speculative due to the 
nature of the business of Lotus. The risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of 
Lotus, that could influence actual results include, but are not limited to: regulatory risk relating to Lotus; change in 
laws, regulations and guidelines; limited operating history; reliance on a single facility; reliance on management; 
requirements for additional financing; competition; risks inherent in an agricultural business; vulnerability to rising 
energy costs; unfavourable publicity or consumer perception; product liability; product recalls; reliance on key 
inputs; dependence on suppliers and skilled labour; difficulty in forecasting sales; conflicts of interest; litigation; 
price fluctuation of Lotus’s shares; no earnings or dividend record; limited market for Lotus’s securities; and other 
factors beyond the control of Lotus. For a detailed description of certain risk factors relating to the ownership of the 
common shares of Lotus which should be carefully considered before making an investment decision, see “Risk 
Factors”. In particular, also see under “Risk Factors” page 36 risk disclosure entitled “Risk Associated with 
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Obtaining an MMPR License” which includes risk assessment relating to (1) Risk as to whether Lotus’s 
MMPR license application will be of sufficient quality; (2) Time required for Health Canada to accept Lotus’s 
MMPR application; (3) Lotus may not be able to obtain the estimated $1.6 million to  build  the facility; (4) 
Risk relating to building the facility; (5) Risk relating to the time required for Lotus to obtain an MMPR 
license  
 
Summary of Financial Information  
 
The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in the financial 
statements of Strachan and Private Lotus and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in the Prospectus. The selected 
financial information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with Strachan’s unaudited interim financial 
statements for the nine month period ended May 31, 2014 and the audited financial statements for the years ended 
August 31, 2012 and 2013 and Private Lotus’ audited financial statements for the nine month period ended May 31, 
2014 and the year ended August 31, 2013. Private Lotus had no operations of any kind during the three years ended 
August 31, 2013.  
 
For Strachan: 
Description Nine months ended May 31, 

2014 
Year ended August  31, 

2013 
Year ended August  31, 

2012 
 

Revenues Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss  
Net loss per share, basic and 
diluted 

12,879 
 

0.003 

155,938 
 

0.03 

90,325 
 

0.02 
Total Assets 5,006 17,740 167,352 
Total Long Term Financial 
Liabilities 

26,445 Nil Nil 

 
For Private Lotus: 
Description Nine months ended May 31, 2014 Year ended August  31, 2013 
Revenues Nil Nil 
Net income or loss, in total  
Net loss per share, basic and 
fully diluted 

$(67,526) 
 

$0.004 

Nil 
 

Nil 
Total Assets $62,239 Nil 
Total Long Term Financial 
Liabilities 

Nil Nil 

Cash dividends declared Nil Nil 
 

See “Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis”. 
 
Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information 
 
The following table sets forth selected pro forma consolidated financial information of Strachan and Private Lotus as at 
May 31, 2014 and August 31, 2013.  

Description Nine months ended May 31, 2014 Year ended August 31, 2013 
Revenues Nil Nil 
Net loss  
Net loss per share, basic and 
diluted 

$80,405 
$0.00 

155,938 
0.03 

Total Assets $771,230 17,740 
Total Long Term Financial 
Liabilities 

$26,445 Nil 

Currency: Unless otherwise stated, all currency amounts are stated in Canadian Dollars. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
 
Name, address and incorporation 
 
Lotus was amalgamated under the BCBCA as Lotus Ventures Inc. on November 27, 2014. 
 
Lotus principal office is #200 - 24 E. 4th Avenue, Vancouver, British Columbia , V5T 1E8. The registered and 
records office of Lotus is located at Suite 910 – 1125 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 2K8.  
 
Intercorporate Relationships 
 
Lotus does not have a subsidiary. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
Three Year History of Strachan, Private Lotus and Lotus 
 
Strachan was listed as a Capital Pool Company (“CPC”) pursuant to the CPC Policy of the TSXV on December 24, 
2010. As a CPC, the principal business of Strachan was to identify and evaluate opportunities for the acquisition of 
an interest in assets or businesses and, once identified and evaluated, to negotiate an acquisition of or participation in 
such assets or business subject to receipt of the approval of the TSXV. The CPC Policy requires that a CPC complete 
a qualifying transaction within two years of listing. Strachan failed to do this, and as a result pursuant to the CPC 
Policy, 1,000,001 common shares held by principals of Strachan were cancelled and Strachan was transferred to the 
NEX board of the TSXV.  
 
Private Lotus was a private company and had no business until it began to look into the medical marijuana business 
in February 2014. On April 30, 2014 it entered into the Assignment Agreement with Carl Busby by which Mr. Busby 
transferred his interest in the Option Agreement for 3,500,000 common shares of Private Lotus at a deemed price of 
$0.005 per shares and 2,250,000 common shares of Private Lotus at a deemed price of $0.02 per shares.. On 
September 1, 2014 Private Lotus entered into the Option Exercise Agreement (see below) which replaced the Option 
Agreement in its entirety.  
 
On July 4, 2014 Dale McClanaghan (“McClanaghan”) became President and CEO of Private Lotus and he and Carl 
Busby (“Busby”) entered into an agreement dated July 4, 2014 whereby Busby agreed to transfer 500,000 shares of 
Lotus on listing on the CSE. 
 
By agreement of July 30, 2014, as amended September 1, 2014, Private Lotus and Strachan agreed that the shares of 
Strachan  be exchanged into issued and outstanding common shares of Lotus on the basis that each one (1) common 
share of Strachan be exchanged for each (1) fully paid and non assessable Lotus Share and the shares of Private Lotus 
be exchanged into issued and outstanding common shares of Lotus on the basis that each one (1) common share of 
Private Lotus be exchanged for one (1) fully paid and non assessable Lotus Share. 
 
On October 8, 2014 the CSE gave conditional approval to the listing of Lotus on the CSE subject to the following 
conditions (a) shareholder approval of the Amalgamation (b) obtaining a receipt for this Prospectus from the British 
Columbia Securities Commission; (c) completion of the Financing and (d) confirmation of sufficient shareholder 
distribution. 
 
On October 20, 2014 the Strachan shareholders approved of the Amalgamation. 
 
On October 22, 2014 the Strachan Founders entered into the Escrow Cancellation Agreement whereby 1,500,000 
shares remaining under the CPC Escrow Agreement were cancelled. 
 
On October 27, 2014 Private Lotus completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,374,000 Private Lotus shares at 
$0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $343,500. Private Lotus paid $10,000 in finder’s fees. 
 
On November 27, 2014 the Amalgamation was completed pursuant to the requirements of the Business Corporations 
Act (British Columbia) whereby 21,774,000 common shares of Private Lotus were exchanged for Lotus Shares and 
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2,500,000 common shares of Strachan were exchanged for Lotus Shares.  
 

Significant Acquisition - The Option Exercise Agreement 
 
Private Lotus has the rights under an agreement dated September 1, 2014 between Carl Correia and 0998918 B.C. 
Ltd. (the “Vendors”) and Private Lotus (the “Option Exercise Agreement”) which replaces in its entirety the Option 
Agreement. Private Lotus agreed to issue 1,700,000 common shares to each of the Vendors for a total of 3,400,000 
common shares at a deemed price of $0.02 per share. Private Lotus acquired Correia’s agreement to (a) be the Chief 
Operating Officer of Private Lotus and the Person in Charge in the MMPR Application (b) to prepare the MMPR 
application on behalf of Private Lotus; (c) assist Private Lotus to obtain approval of the application from Health 
Canada (d) assist Private Lotus to obtain the MMPR License; and (e) assist Private Lotus to negotiate a lease on the 
property on which the facility is located. Private Lotus also acquired Correia’s know-how and experience regarding 
(a) the requirements with respect to the MMPR License process and requirements (b) facility design for application 
for the MMPR License (c) Quality control pursuant to the MMPR License (d) Security requirements pursuant to the 
MMPR License (e) Recruitment of appropriate Alternate Person in Charge and Person in Charge of Quality Control; 
(f) know-how re the growing of medical marijuana, (g) all information, documents and records prepared with respect 
to the MMPR License application and all lease rights to the facility. 
 
Medical Marijuana  
 
Production and Sales 
 
Private Lotus applied on October 17, 2014 for a license under the MMPR to produce and sell medical marijuana. 
Once the application is made Lotus will be required to improve the facility. Private Lotus estimates the cost to make 
the application and improve the facility at $1,600,000 based on the production capacity which is in the Private Lotus 
MMPR license Application.  
 
Until it obtains that license Carl Correia (“Correia”) is limited under the MMAR licenses pursuant to which it 
produces at present the product being provided to the holders of the four licences. These sales pay only operating 
costs. The facility is operated by two persons on a part time basis. The operation is operated in a rented facility. There 
facilities are adequate for use in making the application for the MMPR license and the owner of the building has 
indicated his agreement to this. Correia has leased the facility since December 2012, and it is presently on a month to 
month basis. As part of the process of application Lotus plans to lease additional space which is available and 
adjacent to the facility for a term of 5 years at an estimated rent of $5,000 per month. 
 
The following describes the regulatory regime and the requirements to obtain the MMPR license. If Lotus can raise 
the necessary financing it estimates that it will take one month to prepare and file the application for a license under 
the MMPR, a further six months to a year or more to obtain the license, assuming it can obtain the license and a 
further six months to improve the facility for inspection and the final grant of the license by Health Canada.   
 
Lotus will not have revenues during that period. It will be necessary to raise funds by the issuance of common shares 
or debt financing. There can be no assurance that Lotus can accomplish this. There is also a risk that Lotus may be 
required to close the facility in the event that Health Canada cancels the MMAR licenses under which it produces. 
See “Legal Process Taking Place”.  
 
Present Competitive Environment 
 
There have to date been 13 MMPR licenses granted in Canada. It is believed that there are many additional 
applications for these licenses that have been submitted to Health Canada. Over 1,000 applications have been 
received to date by Health Canada. CanniMed Ltd. of Saskatchewan, the supplier to the Federal Government since 
the medicinal marijuana program was introduced in 2001, was awarded a License as a Licensed Producer in the fall 
of 2013. Others are Delta 9 Bio-tech Inc., OrganiGram Inc., Tilray,  In the Zone Produce Ltd., Mettrum Ltd., Canna 
Farms Ltd, The Peace Naturals Project Inc., Bedrocan Canada Inc., MedReleaf Corp., Thunderbird Biomedical Inc., 
Whistler Medical Marijuana Corp. and Tweed Inc. of Smiths Falls Ontario have been granted Licensed Producer 
status by Health Canada.  
 
There are also a number of existing producers of medical marijuana operating under the prior regulatory regime who, 
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Lotus believes, have or will seek to obtain Licensed Producer Status under the MMPR. Lotus believes that the 
stringent requirements of the MMPR may prove too onerous for some of those existing producers. However, Lotus 
does believe that a number of new competitors will emerge and will launch in the near future, all vying for market 
share. 
 
Legal Process Taking Place  
 
The market for medical marijuana in Canada is subject to regulation, including the MMPR and the Controlled Drug 
and Substances Act (“CSDA”). The commercial medical marijuana industry is a new industry and Lotus anticipates 
that such regulations will be subject to change as the Federal Government monitors Licensed Producers in action. 
These changes are also affected by current legal action. 
 
On March 21, 2014 the Federal Court of Canada issued an order in response to a motion brought by four individuals 
(the “Applicants”). Among other things, the Federal Court issued an order that (i) the Applicants who held a license 
to possess marijuana under the MMAR on March 21, 2014 can continue to possess marijuana in accordance with the 
terms of that license except that the maximum quantity of dried marijuana authorized for possession shall be that 
which is specified by their License or 150 grams, whichever is less; and (ii) the Applicants who held, as of September 
30, 2013, or were issued thereafter a valid license to produce marijuana under the MMAR can continue to produce 
medical marijuana in accordance with the terms of that license; in each case until such time as the Federal Court 
decides the merits of the case. 
 
As of the date of this Information Circular the Federal Government has filed its intention to appeal this order. It is not 
known when this appeal will be heard at this time. In the event that the appeal is unsuccessful, it is uncertain both 
how long it will take for the trial of the matters to take place and what the outcome would be. Until this matter is 
resolved holders of MMAR licenses will be able to continue their activities within the parameters of their MMAR 
licenses. 
 
Because the court order applies only to existing MMAR license holders, it does not exempt new patients who were 
not licensed under the old rules from having to acquire their medical marijuana from licensed producers under the 
MMPR.  
 
Application for a License under the MMPR 
 
In 2001, Canada implemented a government-run program for medical marijuana access. The original regulations 
permitted approved persons access to either grow the product or seek supply from Health Canada. According to a 
press release issued by Health Canada on June 10, 2013, the number of individuals in Canada approved to use 
medical marijuana has grown from 500 in 2001 to more than 30,000 as of June 10, 2013. Due in part to the growth in 
demand, Health Canada issued new regulations in June 2013 with the intent that it replace government supply and 
medical marijuana existing under the MMAR with secure and regulated commercial operations under the MMPR. 
 
To obtain a license under the MMPR, Lotus would be required to meet the following conditions and provide the 
following information to Health Canada. The following is a summary only and the full requirements can be viewed 
on the Health Canada website at www.hc-sc.gc.ca.     
 

(a) It must have its head office in Canada and all its officers and directors must be adults. 
 

(b) The directors and officers must be identified by name, date of birth and gender and indicate whether each 
holds a valid security license. 

 
(c) The applicant must designate personnel who will oversee licensed activities at the site. The designated 

persons must be adults and familiar with the CDSA and its regulations; and the Food and Drug Act. 
 

(d) The applicant must designate a senior person in charge (“Senior PIC”) responsible for overall management of 
the activities of the licensed producer who will work at the site, be responsible for supervising the licensed 
activities, and ensuring that they comply with the CDSA, its regulations and the Food and Drug Act. The 
applicant must designate at least one alternate responsible person in charge (“APIC”) to be responsible when 
the Senior PIC is absent. 
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(e) All officers and directors of the corporation, the proposed Senior PIC, the proposed APIC (s) must each 

obtain a security clearance. 
 

(f) The application must identify the type of activities they propose to carry out; a description of the substances 
related to each activity, the building name and address where each of the activities will take place and the 
purpose for conducting the activities. The activities relating to dried marihuana and/or the plant itself or seeds 
include possession, sale or provision, shipping, transportation or delivery, destruction and/ or production. 

 
(g) The application must state the maximum net weight quantity in kilograms of dried marihuana to be produced 

within a production period and the maximum quantity in kilograms of dried marihuana to be sold to eligible 
persons within a specified period, 

 
(h) If the applicant wishes to conduct in vitro testing with respect to cannabis derivatives, preparations and 

similar synthetic preparations other than marihuana necessary for in vitro testing, these must be identified 
along with the activities related thereto. 

 
(i) With respect to the building or place in a building to be used, the applicant must provide the address, and it is 

expected, a site or floor plan of the building or floor thereof.  
 

(j) If the applicant is the owner of the entire proposed site a declaration must be signed by the Senior PIC, and 
otherwise a declaration must be obtained from the site owner that they are fully aware of the activities 
proposed in the application and consent to those activities being carried out on the site. 

 
(k) The proposed security measures must meet the requirements set out in the Directive on Physical Security 

Requirements for Controlled Substances and in the MMPR, including: 
 

• The perimeter of the site must be visually monitored at all times by visual recording devices to detect 
attempted or actual unauthorized access. 

• The areas within a site where cannabis is present must be visually monitored at all times by visual 
recording devices to detect illicit conduct. 

• The visual recording devices must be capable of recording attempted or actual unauthorized access in a 
visible manner. 

• The perimeter of the site and areas within a site where cannabis is present must be secured at all times 
by an intrusion detection system capable of detecting attempted and actual unauthorized access to or 
movement in the site, or tampering with the system. 

• The intrusion detection system must be monitored at all times by personnel who can determine the 
appropriate steps to take in response to any detected activity that is unauthorized. 

• In the case of any detected activity, the personnel must record the date and time of the detected matter 
and the measures taken in response to it. Personnel must also record the date and time when measures 
were taken. 

• Access to areas within a site where cannabis is present must include physical barriers that prevent 
unauthorized access and must be limited to personnel who require access to the areas to perform their 
work responsibilities. Records must be kept of each person entering or exiting these areas. 

• All areas within a site must be equipped with a system that filters air to prevent the escape of odours 
and, if present, pollen. 

Before a License can be issued, compliance with the site and physical security requirements under the 
MMPR and Health Canada Directive on Physical Security Requirements for Controlled Substances must be 
verified through a pre-license inspection conducted by Health Canada. 

(l) the applicant must provide a written notice to local authorities of their intention to submit an application, the 
facility location and the proposed activities.  The application must include the name, title and address of a 
senior official of the local police force or Royal Canadian Mounted Police detachment responsible for 
providing policing services to the area in which the proposed site is located, the local fire authority of that 
area and the local government (for example, municipality) of that area, and a copy of each notice. 
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(m) A licensed producer must have an employee designated as a quality assurance person who is responsible for 
assuring the quality of the dried marijuana, before it is made available for sale. This employee must have the 
training, experience and technical knowledge related to the proposed licensed activities and the requirements 
of the MMPR. The applicant must submit a document signed and dated by the quality assurance person that 
includes a description of the quality assurance person’s qualifications in respect of the proposed licensed 
activities and the requirement of the MMPR and a report establishing that the buildings, equipment and 
proposed sanitation program to be used in conducting the proposed activities referred in the MMPR comply 
with the regulatory requirements. 

(n) The applicant must submit a detailed description of their proposed record keeping methods. This must 
include a description of the process that will be used for recording transactions relating to licensed activities, 
including maintaining appropriate records of transactions and dealings with both suppliers and clients. 

 
The Process from MMPR Application To MMPR License  
 
The following describes the constituent parts of the MMPR license application, the Health Canada review, and  
financing for building the facility: For Lotus’s estimates of time required for Phase One and Phase Two  matters to be 
complete see “Business objectives and milestones”. For risk factors involved in this process see “Risks Associated 
with Obtaining an MMPR License”. 
 
Phase One 
 
Personnel, Positions And Clearances 
(a) Naming the Senior Person in Charge (Dale McClanaghan), the Responsible Person in Charge (Carl Correia 

(“Correia”), the Alternate Responsible Person in Charge (Monica Holubowski), and the Quality Assurance 
Person  (Tracy Edwards)  

 
(b) Obtaining Security Clearances for all officers and directors of Lotus and those named above.   
 
 
Third Party Consents 
(c) Obtaining consent from the property owner where the facility is located.  
 
(d) Obtaining the consent of local government, police and fire authorities.  
 
 
Security, Quality Control, Record Keeping and Related Plans 
(e) A security plan with descriptions of the security measures and floor plans is attached to the application. This 

has been done by Correia with assistance from Axion Integrated Security.  
 
(f) A quality assurance pre-licensing report is attached to the application. This is a description of the quality 

assurance person’s qualifications and includes a report establishing that the buildings, equipment and proposed 
sanitation program comply with regulatory requirements. This has been prepared by Correia and Tracy Edwards 
with the assistance of Quality Compliance Laboratories (“QCL”) . QCL is under License with Health Canada.. 
QCL’s name will be included in support of this portion of the application. 

 
 
(g) A  record keeping plan and methods to be used is attached to the application. Correia has done this with the 

assistance of BiotracTHC a software company which has specific software solutions for this. 
 
 
(h) A facility plan designed to incorporate the security and quality control design is attached to the application. This 

includes HVAC and electrical systems design. Correia has done this with the assistance of Allan Martin. Mr. 
Martin is principal of Westec Construction and Project Management Ltd. has 35 years of senior construction 
business across a wide range of project types. 
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(i) A control system design which incorporates the security and quality control plans is attached to the application. 
Correia has done this with the assistance of Priva North America. 

 
Phase Two 
 
Application Review 
(j) Once the application is submitted it is assessed by Health Canada and comments, and requirements provided.  
 
(k) Once Health Canada is satisfied that the application, and the above constituent parts are complete, it informs 

the applicant that it is acceptable. 
 
Phase Three 
 
Financing and Construction 
(l) Lotus will be required to have or to obtain the financing of $1.6 million to build the facility according the plan 

in the application  
 
(m) The applicant invests the funds required (once funds are raised) to prepare the facility according to plan. 
 
Inspection and License 
(n) When the facility is ready, Health Canada sends an inspector to ensure that the facility is according to plan. 
 
(o) If the inspection is successful, the MMPR license is issued.   
 
Market 
 
On its web site, Health Canada indicates that as of December 2012 there were 28,115 individuals licensed to possess 
and consume dried marijuana for medicinal purposes in Canada. According to a Canadian Broadcasting Corporation 
report on January 28, 2014, in 2013 there were 38,000 authorized users of medical marijuana in Canada with a 
combined prescribed 190,000 kg of medical marijuana per year. Health Canada officials have been widely quoted as 
stating that Health Canada anticipates the number of Canadians authorized to consume medical marijuana could be as 
high as 450,000 by 2024. 
 
According to the Regulatory Impact Analysis Statement prepared by the Department of Health in connection with the 
introduction of the MMPR, the average dosage for licenses granted to individual users by Health Canada is ten (10) 
grams of marijuana per day. The average retail price estimate used in the Regulatory Impact Analysis Statement 
prepared by the Department of Health is $8.80 per gram. 
 
Market Plans and Strategies 
 
Under the new process for medical marijuana under the MMPR, clients are no longer required to obtain a license 
to possess marijuana from Health Canada. Instead, clients must obtain a prescription and medical approval from 
their physician or nurse practitioner and provide the medical document to the licensed producer (“Licensed 
Producer”) from which they wish to purchase marijuana. To change Licensed Producers, the client must obtain 
a new prescription and resubmit all materials to the new Licensed Producer.  
 
Lotus believes that Health Canada’s revised policy for the production and dispensing of medical marijuana under the 
MMPR will be disruptive for both producers and consumers, transforming the current industry into one of 
commercial scale. Consumers that rely on medical marijuana as a form of medical treatment will be required to seek 
new sources of supply from a distinctly different type of supplier.  
 
Licensed Producers are not allowed to advertise their products to the public. However, they are allowed to promote 
the product to doctors. As such, a key element of a marketing strategy will be to reach doctors through direct and 
indirect outreach. This will involve engagement through continuing education and similar events; recruitment of 
medical thought leaders to support such a strategy, and direct outreach. 
 
Reaching potential customers through an online presence and word of mouth will also be important. Indirect outreach 
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through collaboration with key stakeholders may be undertaken to reach potential clients, but no such relationships 
exist at present. 
 
The MMPR also provides that Licensed Producers are also allowed to sell to each other. How this market will 
develop remains to be seen. Some Licensed Producers may not produce medical marijuana but instead purchase 
medical marijuana wholesale from other Licensed Producers and sell the product to registered clients. In other cases 
it is anticipated that Licensed Producers may sell amongst themselves from time to time in order to overcome short 
term supply and demand imbalances. 
 
Trends 
 
Management of Lotus does not know of any trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that are expected to 
materially affect Lotus’s business other than as disclosed herein under “Risk Factors” and “Narrative Description of 
the Business”. 
 

USE OF PROCEEDS 
 

This is a non-offering prospectus and accordingly there are no proceeds except with respect to a non-brokered private 
placement of 1,374,000 Private Lotus Shares at $0.25 which closed on October 27, 2014 and with respect to which  
Lotus paid $10,000 as a finder’s fee. 
 
Funds Available and Use of Available Funds 
 
Private Lotus has working capital of approximately $333,824 at October 31, 2014 on a consolidated basis after 
subsequent financing. This is for the purpose of accomplishing Phase Two and Phase Three shown in “Business 
Objectives and Milestones” herein. The following shows the funds available and use of available finds.  
 

Item $ 
Funds Available for Phase Two  
Working Capital of Strachan at October 31, 2014 ($9,146) 
Working capital of Private Lotus at October 31, 2014  $333,824(1) 
2,500,000 Lotus Shares at $0.005 by Strachan Founders for 
which payment has been made 

$12,500 

Total  $337,178 
Principal purposes for the use of available funds  
Planned Quality Control Training $30,000 
Estimated audit costs $9,000 
Regulatory Fees $10,000 
General and administrative costs for 12 months $181,000 
Unallocated working capital $107,178 
Total $337,178 

1. This includes certain creditors who have agreed that amounts payable to them totaling $30,736 will be made payable 15 
months after listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange without interest. This includes the net proceeds of the Private 
Placement Financing. 

2. In the event that Lotus received approval from Health Canada of its MMPR application, funds will be spent to begin 
upgrading the facility to meet the standards of the application. 

 
The following are estimates of general and administrative expenses to be incurred over 12 months from the date of 
this Prospectus. 
 

General and Administrative Costs for 12 Months Amount 
Management Fees $42,000 
Rent (1) $6,000 
Accounting and Audit  $41,000 
Legal fees $37,000 
Regulatory and Filing  $6,000 
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Transfer Agent  $4,000 
Miscellaneous – office $5,000 
Investor Relations $40,000 
Total $181,000 
(1)  Lotus does not plan to rent office space until after it obtains approval from Health Canada to its MMPR 

license application. 

Lotus intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, 
where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Use of net proceeds will be subject to 
the discretion of management. 
 
Business Objectives and Milestones 
 
The following steps, including filing the application are as follows. See also “The Process from MMPR Application 
To MMPR License” and  “Risks Associated with Obtaining an MMPR License”:. 
 
 Matter to be accomplished Estimated Time Frame Cost Estimate 
 Phase One   
1 The MMPR application is filed  Filed October 17, 2014 $25,000 paid 
 Phase Two   
1 Receive comments from and makes submissions 

to Health Canada 
Four to eight months after 
application submitted 

$5,000 (1) 

2 Health Canada informs Lotus that the  
application is acceptable 

Six to eight months after application 
submitted 

Nil 

 Phase Three   
1 Financing to prepare facility according to plan Three months from item 3 Phase One $200,000 (3) 
2 Building and equipping of facility Six months from financing $1,600,000 
3 Inspection and license issue Two months from building 

completion  
Nil 

 Total Estimated Time  Eighteen Months  
(1) This is included in general and administrative expenses. See “Use of Proceeds”) 
 
Over the next 12 months Lotus will concentrate its efforts on obtaining Health Canada’s acceptance of its application for 
an MMPR license. This process is time consuming and at present unpredictable. It is uncertain whether Lotus can obtain 
this acceptance within this time, or at all. In the event that the application is successful, Lotus will be required to complete 
the upgrade of the facility to match its application. In any event this will require approximately $1,600,000 to accomplish. 
Lotus will be required to both raise funds to make these upgrades and undertake and complete the construction, and have 
the facility inspected by Health Canada to obtain the license.  

 
 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 
 

Neither Strachan or Private Lotus has declared or paid any dividends on its common shares for each of its three most 
recently completed financial years and its current financial year. Lotus intends to retain its earnings, if any, to finance 
growth and expand its operations and does not anticipate paying any dividends on its common shares in the 
foreseeable future.   
 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S 
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
Information from Years Ended August 31, 2012 and 2013 and Nine Months Ended May 31, 2014 for Strachan and 
for the Year Ended August 31, 2013 and Nine Months Ended May 31, 2014 for Private Lotus 
 
The following information is taken from and should be read in conjunction with Strachan’s audited financial 
statements and related notes thereto for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2012 and 2013 and the unaudited financial 
statements and related notes thereto for the nine months ended May 31, 2014 which are filed at www.sedar.com and 
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Private Lotus’ audited financial statements and related notes thereto for the nine month period ended May 31, 2014 
and the year ended August 31, 2013. Private Lotus had no operations of any kind during the three years ended August 
31, 2013.  
  
Selected Annual Information For Strachan 

The following show the results of operations for the periods shown.  

 
Description 

Nine months ended May 
31, 2014 

Year ended August  31, 
2013 

Year ended August  31, 
2012 

Revenues Nil Nil Nil
Net loss  
Net loss / share, basic and diluted 

12,879
0.003

155,938
0.03

90,325
0.02

Total Assets 5,006 17,740 167,352
Total Long Term Financial 
Liabilities 

$26,445 Nil Nil

 
Quarterly Information For Strachan 
 
The following provides quarterly financial information for Strachan for each three month period since May 1, 2012. 
 

Description 

Three 
months 
ended May 
31, 2014 

Three 
months 
ended Feb 
28, 2014 

Three 
months 
ended Nov 
30, 2013 

Three 
months 
ended Aug 
31, 2013 

Three 
months 
ended May 
31, 2013 

Three 
months 
ended Feb 
28, 2013 

Three 
months 
ended Nov 
30, 2012 

Three 
months 
ended Aug 
31, 2012 

Revenues 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net Income  
(loss) 

(6,185) (7,001) 103 (84,556) (36,425) (19,577) (15,380) (32,865)

Net loss per 
share, basic 
and diluted 

(0.00) (0.00) 0.00 (0.02) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) (0.01)

Total Assets 5,006 8,385 21,472 17,740 21,715 101,597 144,949 167,352
Total Long 
Term 
Liabilities 

26,445  
Nil Nil Nil Nil

 
Nil 

 
Nil Nil

Cash 
Dividends / 
Share 

 
Nil 

 
Nil Nil Nil Nil

 
Nil 

 
Nil Nil

 
Strachan generated no revenues and had negative cash flow from operating activities. The negative cash flow 
($84,556) as at August 31, 2013 was mostly a result of $40,406 of qualifying transactions costs, $12,050 legal costs 
to Canaccord and $22,470 of other legal costs. In order to continue as a going concern and meet its corporate 
objectives, Strachan will require additional financing through debt or equity issuances or other available means. 
 
Selected Annual Information For Private Lotus 

 
Description Nine months ended May 31, 2014 Year ended August  31, 2013 
Revenues Nil Nil 
Net income or loss, in total  
Net loss per share, basic and 
fully diluted 

$(67,526) 
 

$0.004 

Nil 
 

Nil 
Total Assets $62,239 Nil 
Total Long Term Financial 
Liabilities 

Nil Nil 

Cash dividends declared Nil Nil 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
Nine Months Ended May 31, 2014 – Strachan 
 
Strachan, as a CPC on the TSXV with no business or operations, has not been able to complete its qualifying 
transaction in the time frame required and accordingly has transferred its listing to the NEX board of the TSXV 
effective May 28, 2013.  
 
For the nine months ended May 31, 2014 general and administrative expenses totalled $17,879 and $71,908 in 2012.  
Accounts payable were $8,367. Strachan had $4,774 in cash. Certain creditors agreed that amounts payable to them 
totaling $30,736 will be made payable 15 months after listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange without interest. 
 
Nine Months Ended May 31, 2014 – Private Lotus 
 
Private Lotus has had no business or operations from incorporation in January 2007 until February 2014 when it 
began to look into the medical marijuana business, culminating on April 30, 2014 when it entered into the 
Assignment Agreement. Since that time Lotus has issued 11,750,000 common shares of which 3,500,000 were issued 
at $0.005 per share for a total of $17,500 and 8,250,000 shares at $0.02 per share for a total of $165,000. It had also 
received subscriptions for an additional 5,250,000 common shares at $0.02 per share for a total of $105,000, which 
have since been paid. It has incurred $67,526 in legal fees related to its business.  
  
Year Ended August 31, 2013 – Strachan 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2013, general and administrative expenses totaled $96,058 and $92,606 in 2012. 
Exploration costs were $3,047 for the year as Strachan expensed its cancelled venture in the Chu Chua properties. An 
additional $12,500 in filing fees was also incurred to qualify the failed venture. For the year ended August 31, 2013, 
Strachan experienced a net decrease in cash of ($149,447) due to investing and operating activities. In order to 
continue as a going concern and meet its corporate objectives, Strachan will require additional financing through debt 
or equity issuances or other available means. There is no assurance that Strachan will be able to obtain adequate 
financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms advantageous to Strachan. 
 
Year Ended August 31, 2012 – Strachan 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2012 general and administrative expenses totaled $92,606. For the year ended August 
31, 2012, Strachan experienced a net decrease in cash of $95,761 due to operating and investing activities. In order to 
continue as a going concern and meet its corporate objectives, Strachan will require additional financing through debt 
or equity issuances or other available means. There is no assurance that Strachan will be able to obtain adequate 
financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms advantageous to Strachan. 
 
Years Ended August 31, 2012 and 2013 – Private Lotus 
 
Private Lotus was incorporated in January 2007.  It had no business during these periods and had no assets, liabilities, 
income or expenses. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
Neither Strachan, nor Private Lotus or Lotus has entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
William Spratt was a director of Strachan, and owned 50,000 shares of Strachan subject to the CPC Escrow 
Agreement and had options to purchase 100,000 shares of Strachan expiring 90 days from the Amalgamation. Mr. 
Spratt also owned 250,000 common shares of Private Lotus. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption 
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The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Standards (IFRS) requires 
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses.  Management evaluates the estimates periodically.  Actual results may differ from these estimates by 
material amounts. 
 
Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information 
 
The following table sets forth selected pro forma consolidated financial information of Strachan and Private Lotus as at 
May 31, 2014 and August 31, 2013, as if Strachan and Private Lotus had completed the Amalgamation as at May 31, 2014.  

Description Nine months ended May 31, 2014 Year ended August 31, 2013 
Revenues Nil Nil 
Net loss  
Net loss per share, basic and diluted 

$80,405 
$0.00 

$155,938 
$0.03 

Total Assets $771,230 $17,740 
Total Long Term Financial Liabilities $26,445 Nil 
 

 
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES 

 
Authorized and Issued Share Capital 
 
The authorized share capital of Lotus consists of unlimited common shares without par value. As of the date of this 
Prospectus, 26,774,000 common shares of Lotus are issued and outstanding assuming the issue of 2,500,000 shares of 
Lotus to be issued to Strachan Founders at $0.005 per share prior to listing on the CSE, with the following attributes. The 
holders of the Lotus Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of the shareholders 
and each Lotus Share confers the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all meetings of the shareholders. The 
holders of the Lotus Shares, subject to the prior rights, if any, of any other class of shares of Lotus, are entitled to 
receive such dividends in any financial year as the board of directors may by resolution determine. In the event of the 
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Lotus Shares are entitled 
to receive, subject to the prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other class of shares, the remaining property and 
assets. 
 
As of the date of this Prospectus, there are 500,000 Options outstanding exercisable to purchase 500,000 common 
shares of Lotus at $0.10 per share until December 24, 2015 and 1,000,000 Options exercisable to purchase of 
1,000,000 common shares at $0.25 per share for five years from the date of listing on the CSE. 

 
CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

 
The following table sets out the share capitalization of Lotus at the date of this Prospectus: 
 
 

Designation of 
Security 

Amount authorized or to be 
authorized 

Amount outstanding at the date of this Prospectus 

Common Shares Unlimited 26,774,000 (1) 

(1) This includes the 2,500,000 shares of Lotus to be issued to Strachan Founders at $0.005 per share prior to listing on the CSE. 
This does not include shares to be issued upon exercise of the Options. 
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Fully Diluted Share Capital 
 
The following table sets out the anticipated fully diluted share capital of Lotus at the date of this Prospectus: 
 
 Number of Securities 

Issued or Reserved at 
the Date of this 
Prospectus 

% of total issued and 
outstanding as of the date of 
this Prospectus (fully 
diluted)  

Lotus Shares issued at date of Prospectus 24,274,000 85.8 
Lotus Shares to be issued to Strachan Founders 2,500,000 8.9 
Shares to be issued on exercise of Options and Lotus Options 1,500,000 5.3 
Total 28,274,000 100.0 
 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 
 

The following table sets forth all options to purchase securities of Lotus that are presently held. 
 

Optionee Number of 
Lotus Shares 
under Option 

Purchase 
Price 

Expiry Date Market Value of 
Shares under 
Option on the date 
of grant  

Market Value of 
Shares under Option 
on the date of this 
Prospectus 

Gary 
Mathiesen 

150,000 $0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil Nil 

Steve 
Mathiesen 

150,000 $0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil Nil 

William Spratt 100,000(1) $0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil Nil 
Peter Leitch 100,000(1) $0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil Nil 
Stephen 
Winters 

500,000 $0.25 5 years from 
Listing on the 
CSE 

Nil Nil 

Dale 
McClanaghan 

500,000 $0.25 5 years from 
Listing on the 
CSE 

Nil Nil 

Total 1,500,000     
1. William Spratt and Peter Leitch ceased to be directors on completion of the Amalgamation. Their options will expire in 90 

days after the date of the Amalgamation. 
 

Directors and Officers of Lotus have an aggregate 800,000 options outstanding. 
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PRIOR SALES 
 

The following table sets out the combined prior issuances of shares by Strachan and Private Lotus. 
 

Date Number of Shares Issue Price per Share 
January 29, 2007 1 $0.02 

May 12, 2010 1 $0.05 
August 30, 2010 2,300,000 $0.05 

September 21, 2010 200,000 $0.05 
December 21, 2010 2,500,000 $0.10 

May 27, 2013 (1,000,001) (1) $0.05 
April 30, 2014 5,750,000 (2) $0.005 and $0.02(1) 
May 6, 2014 3,499,999 $0.02 
May 20, 2014 1,800,000 $0.02 
May 26, 2014 700,000 $0.02 

August 5, 2014 2,500,000 $0.02 
August 5, 2014 950,000 $0.02 

August 15, 2014 1,800,000 $0.02 
September 1, 2014 3,400,000 $0.02 
October 22, 2014 (1,500,000) (3) $0.05 
October 27, 2014  1,374,000 $0.25 

To be issued prior to listing on the CSE 2,500,000 (4) $0.005 
Total 26,774,000  

 
(1) On May 27, 2013, 1,000,001 common shares held by principals of Strachan were cancelled as part of the transfer of 

Strachan to the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange.;  
(2) 3,500,000 shares were issued at a deemed price of $0.005 per share and 2,250,000 shares were issued at a deemed price 

of $0.02 per share. 
(3) These shares are remaining shares held under the CPC Escrow Agreement that are cancelled by the Escrow Cancellation 

Agreement. 
(4) These shares are to be issued prior to listing on the CSE be held under the CSE Escrow Agreement. 
 

 
ESCROWED SHARES 

 
1,500,000 shares remaining under the CPC Escrow Agreement were cancelled by the Strachan Founders and MGK 
Consulting Inc. by the Escrow Cancelation Agreement. After the issue of 2,500,000 shares to the Strachan Founders, 
prior to Listing on the CSE and escrowed under the CSE Escrow Agreement, the following table sets out, the number 
and percentage of common shares of Lotus to be held in escrow, before giving effect to the initial release of the 
escrowed Lotus Shares under the CSE Escrow Agreement. 
 
Name and Municipality of Residence of 
Securityholder 

Designation of Class Number of  Lotus 
Shares to be held in 
escrow 

Percentage of 
class(1) 

Sash Management Ltd. 

West Vancouver, BC 
Common Shares  950,000(2) 3.5 

Gary Mathiesen 
Vancouver, BC 

Common Shares 850,000 3.2 

Peter Leitch 
North Vancouver, BC 

Common Shares 200,000 0.7 

William Spratt 
Vancouver, BC 

Common Shares 350,000 1.3 

Graeme Sewell 
North Vancouver, BC 

Common Shares 100,000 0.4 

Joseph Zucchiatti 
Terrace, BC 

Common Shares 100,000 0.4 



 26

Mark Bolin(3) 

Vancouver, BC 
Common Shares 200,000 0.7 

Carl Busby  
West Vancouver, BC 

Common Shares 6,000,000(4) 21.6 

Dale McClanaghan 
Vancouver, BC 

Common Shares 2,500,000(4) 9.3 

Carl Correia 
Vernon, BC 

Common Shares 3,400,000(5) 12.7 

Total  14,650,000 53.8 
1. Based on 26,774,000 shares to be issued and outstanding. This includes the 2,500,000 shares of Lotus to be issued to 

Strachan Founders at $0.005 per share prior to listing on the CSE. It does not include shares to be issued upon exercise of 
Options.  

2. These shares are beneficially owned, controlled or directed, directly or indirectly by Steve Mathiesen. Sash Management Ltd. 
is a private company owned by Steve Mathiesen and his wife. Mr. Mathiesen holds 1,003,500 shares, of which 53,500 are 
held in RRSP and so cannot be deposited in escrow. Instead the initial 10 percent to Mr. Mathiesen will be 36,850 shares 
(90,350 less 53,500).  

3. Member of the Aggregate Pro Group. 
4. This does not include the agreement between Carl Busby and Dale McClanaghan dated July 4, 2014 by which Mr. Busby 

agreed to transfer to Mr. McClanaghan 500,000 shares subject to escrow upon Lotus being listed on the CSE. 
5. These are issued as to 1,700,000 each to Mr. Correia and his wholly owned private company 0998918 B.C. Ltd. 

 
The CSE Escrow Shares 
 
The CSE Escrow Shares will be held in escrow pursuant to the CSE Escrow Agreement. There are to be 14,650,000 
Lotus Shares to be held in escrow. These are held in escrow as required by CSE policy.   
 
The CSE Escrow Shares are to be subject to the release schedule set out in the form of escrow required by s. 1.8 of 
Policy 8 – Fundamental Changes of the CSE. Ten percent of the CSE Escrow Shares are to be released upon the date 
of listing on the CSE and an additional 15% are to be released every 6 months thereafter until all CSE Escrow Shares 
have been released (36 months following the date of listing on the CSE).  
 
The CSE Escrow Agreement provides that the CSE Escrow Shares are held in escrow pursuant to its terms and the 
beneficial ownership thereof may not be sold, assigned, hypothecated, transferred within escrow or otherwise dealt 
with in any manner without the prior written consent of the CSE. In the event of the bankruptcy of an escrow 
shareholder, provided the CSE does not object, the CSE Escrow Shares held by such escrow shareholder may be 
transferred to the trustees in the bankruptcy or such person legally entitled to the CSE Escrow Shares which shares 
will remain in escrow subject to the escrow agreement. In the event of the death of an escrow shareholder, provided 
the CSE does not object, the CSE Escrow Shares held by the escrow shareholder will be released from escrow. 
 
Shares Subject to Resale Restrictions 
 
There are 1,374,000 Lotus Shares issued pursuant to the Private Placement Financing which are subject to a four 
month hold period from the date of listing on the CSE.   
 
 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of Lotus no person owns of record or beneficially, directly or 
indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, Lotus Shares carrying more than 10% of all voting rights attached to 
the outstanding Lotus common shares except the following: 
 
Name Ownership Number of  Common 

Shares as at the date of 
this Prospectus  

Number of Common 
Shares at the Date of 
this Prospectus 

Percentage at the 
Date of this 
Prospectus(1) 

Carl Busby Of record and 
beneficially 

N/A 6,000,000 (2) 21.6 

Carl Correia Of record and N/A 3,400,000 12.7 
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beneficially 
1. Based on a total of 26,774,000 to be issued and outstanding. This includes the 2,500,000 shares of Lotus to be issued to 

Strachan Founders at $0.005 per share prior to listing on the CSE. It does not include shares to be issued on the exercise of 
Options,  

2. This does not include the agreement between Carl Busby and Dale McClanaghan dated July 4, 2014 by which Mr. Busby has 
agreed to transfer to Mr. McClanaghan 500,000 shares subject to escrow upon Lotus being listed on the CSE 

3. On a fully diluted basis, Mr. Busby will own 6,000,000 (21.2%) out of 28,274,000 Lotus Shares.  Lotus intends to grant 
500,000 options to Dale McClanaghan.  On a fully diluted basis, if these options are exercised, Mr. McClanaghan will own 
3,000,000 (10.7%) out of 28,100,000 Lotus Shares. These numbers do not include the shares in Note 2 above. 

 
 

DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND PROMOTERS 
 
The following table sets out the name, municipality and province of residence, position to be held with Lotus, current 
principal occupation, and the number and percentage of Lotus Shares which will be beneficially owned, directly or 
indirectly, or over which control or direction is proposed to be exercised, by each of Lotus’s directors and officers.. 
Carl Busby is the promoter of Lotus. 
 
 

Name and 
Municipality of 
Residence 

Position to be 
held with 
Lotus 

Principal Occupation for the 
Past Five Years 

Number of Lotus 
Shares at the Date 
of this Prospectus 
(1) 

Percentage of 
class at the Date 
of this 
Prospectus(1) 

Dale 
McClanaghan 
Vancouver, BC, 
Canada 
 

President, 
CEO and 
Director 

President of McClanaghan & 
Associates Consulting Ltd. (Jan 
2002 to present) 

2,500,000(2) 9.3 

Steve Mathiesen 

West Vancouver, 
BC, Canada 

Director Lawyer with McMillan LLP, 
(2000 to Jun 2012), Business 
consultant (Jan 2012 to present), 
President of Sash Management 
Ltd., a private company. 

1,003,500 
 

3.7 

Carl Busby  
West Vancouver, 
BC, Canada 

Director Private Investor (2002 to 
present) 

6,000,000 (2) 21.6 

Gary Mathiesen 

Vancouver, BC, 
Canada 

CFO President of Quay Property 
Management Corp. (2000 to 
present) 

850,000 3.2 

Carl Correia 
Vernon, BC, 
Canada 

COO Lightning Contracting (self 
employed) (Oct 2005 to present) 

3,400,000(3) 12.7 

(1) Based on a total of 26,774,000 shares being issued and outstanding. This includes the 2,500,000 shares of Lotus to be issued 
to Strachan Founders at $0.005 per share prior to listing on the CSE. This does not include shares to be issued on the 
exercise of Options. 

(2) This does not included the agreement between Carl Busby and Dale McClanaghan dated July 4, 2014 by which Mr. Busby 
agreed to transfer to Mr. McClanaghan 500,000 shares subject to escrow upon Lotus being listed on the CSE. 

(3) These shares are issued as to 1,700,000 each to Mr. Corriea and 0998918 B.C. Ltd., his wholly owned private company. 
 
The directors and officers of Lotus as a group will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or 
direction over an aggregate of 13,753,500 Lotus Shares, representing 51.4% of the issued and outstanding Lotus 
Shares (on an undiluted basis). Each director’s term of office will expire at the next annual meeting of the 
shareholders unless re-elected at such meeting. 
 
Lotus’s audit committee will comprise Steve Mathiesen and Carl Busby and Dale McClanaghan. Steve Mathiesen 
and Carl Busby will be independent members. All members are considered financially literate. There are no other 
committees of the Board at this time. All compensation and corporate governance matters will be overseen by the 
board of directors of Lotus. 
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The directors and officers will devote their time and expertise as required by Lotus, however, it is not anticipated that 
any director or officer will devote 100% of their time to the activities of Lotus. None of the directors and officers will 
be employees of Lotus; all will serve as independent contractors. Lotus is expected to enter into a management 
agreement with Dale McClanaghan for his services as President and CEO.  Lotus will pay Mr. McClanaghan $3,500 
per month for these services.  As part of this management agreement, Mr. McClanaghan will agree to confidentiality 
and non-disclosure provisions. Lotus is also expected to enter into a contract with Quay Property Management Ltd., a 
company wholly owned by Gary Mathiesen, for his services as CFO at $100 per hour. As part of his agreement, Mr. 
Gary Mathiesen will agree to confidentiality and non-disclosure provisions. See “Executive Compensation”.  Other 
than these agreements, none of the directors or officers is expected to enter into a non-competition or non-disclosure 
agreement with Lotus at this time. See also “Management” below for additional biographic information about the 
proposed directors and officers. 
 
Management  
 
Additional biographic information about the proposed directors and officers of Lotus is provided below. 
 
Dale McClanaghan, (Age: 58) President, CEO and Director 
 
Mr. McClanaghan has had a varied career in banking (Bank of Montreal trade finance), real estate development 
(privately and as CEO of VanCity Enterprises Ltd.) and leading companies in mineral exploration (Adrian Resources 
Ltd. later called Petaquilla Resources Ltd). As well he has had active social roles as director of non-profit (Treasurer 
of Vancouver Heritage Foundation, Katherine Sanford Housing, VanCity Place for Youth), educational (Chair of 
Administration and Finance Committee of Langara College) and civic agencies (President of the NPA Association, 
Chair of City of Vancouver Planning Commission). 
 
Mr. McClanaghan will be responsible for management of Lotus. 
 
Steve Mathiesen, (Age: 65) Director 
 
Mr. Mathiesen has been a business consultant since January 2012, providing consulting and management services to 
several companies. Prior to that, he was a lawyer and partner with McMillan LLP (formerly Lang Michener LLP) of 
Vancouver from 2000 to June 2012. His practice included mergers and acquisitions and financings for public and 
private companies and ventures involved in the technology, real estate, resource and other sectors. He has been a 
director and officer of several TSX Venture Exchange listed companies.   
 
Mr. Mathiesen will be an independent director of Lotus. 
 
Carl Busby, (Age: 71) Director 
 
Mr. Busby has been for more than 40 years a broker with various brokerage firms in Vancouver, British Columbia, 
including as vice president of Nesbitt Burns, responsible for its operations in British Columbia and Alberta. Since 
retiring in 2002, Mr. Busby has been a private investor, investing in both private and public equity and debt 
instruments. 
 
Mr. Busby will be an independent director of Lotus. 
 
Gary Mathiesen, (Age: 60) CFO 
 
Mr. Mathiesen is a chartered accountant. He has been the President and principal of Quay Property Management 
Corp., and related companies since October 2000.  Quay Property Management Corp. is a real estate management 
company which currently manages and owns Lonsdale Quay Market and Tsawwassen Quay Market, and previously a 
number of other real estate projects and businesses in Canada, the US and other countries. Mr. Mathiesen has served 
as an officer and director of several TSX Venture Exchange listed companies. 
 
Mr. Mathiesen will be responsible for budgeting and financial reporting obligations. 
 



 29

Carl Correia, (Age 34) COO 
 
Mr. Correia is the principal of Lightning Contracting, an electrical contracting company.  He began producing as a 
designated grower under the MMAR regulations in 2010. He produces under four MMAR licences.. 
 
The term of office of the directors will expire annually at the time of Lotus’s annual general meeting. The term of 
office of the officers will expire at the discretion of Lotus’s directors. 
 
Other Reporting Issuer Experience 
 
The following table sets out the directors, officers and promoters of Lotus that are, or have been within the last five 
years, directors, officers or promoters of other reporting issuers: 
 
Name Name and Jurisdiction of Other 

Reporting Issuers 
Name of 

Exchange or 
Market 

Position From To 

Dale 
McClanaghan 

BCM Resources Corporation 
British Columbia 

TSXV Director, 
President & 

CEO 

Jun 2005 Present 

Gary 
Mathiesen 

RockBridge Resources Inc. 
British Columbia 

TSXV Director  
President & 

CEO 
CFO 

Nov 2007   
Nov 2007 

 
Oct 2010 

Feb 2011  
Oct 2010 

 
Present 

 Westlake Capital Ltd. 
British Columbia 

TSXV CFO and 
Director 

    Mar 2011  Oct 2013 

 E-xact  Transactions Ltd.(1) 

British Columbia 
TSXV CFO  

Director 
Jun 2003  
Jun 2003 

Present  
Nov 2007 

 CMC Metals Ltd. 
British Columbia 

TSXV Director Jun 1996 Feb 2007 

Steve 
Mathiesen 

RockBridge Resources Inc. 
British Columbia 

TSXV Director & 
Secretary  

President & 
CEO 

Nov 2007 
 

May 2013 

Present 
 

Present 

 Westlake Capital Ltd. 
British Columbia 

TSXV CEO, Secretary 
and Director 

Mar 2011 Oct 2013 

 CMC Metals Ltd. 
British Columbia 

TSXV Director Jun 1996 Jul 2012 

 Empower Technologies Corporation
British Columbia 

TSXV Secretary Jan 2004 Nov 2011 

 Uniserve Communications 
Corporation 
British Columbia 

TSXV Tier 1 Secretary  Jan 2007 January 
2012 

 Con-Space Communications Ltd. 
British Columbia 

TSXV Secretary Aug 2007 Nov 2009 

 Alta Natural Herbs and Supplements 
Ltd., British Columbia 

TSXV Secretary Oct 2007 Feb 2009 

(1) As of December 3, 2010, E-xact Transactions Ltd. ceased to be listed on the TSXV and ceased to be a reporting issuer. 

 
Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 
 
Other than as disclosed herein, to the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director, officer of the 
Issuer, nor any shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer is, 
or within the ten years prior to the date hereof has been, a director or CEO or CFO of any corporation  (including the 
Issuer) that, while that person was acting in the capacity of director or CEO or CFO of that corporation, was the 
subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the corporation access to any exemption under 
securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.   
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E-xact Transactions Ltd., at the time that Mr. Gary Mathiesen was CFO and a director, was the subject of a cease 
trade order dated May 2007 for a failure to file financial statements.  This cease trade order was rescinded in July 
2007. 
 
Uniserve Communications Corporation, at the time that Steve Mathiesen was Corporate Secretary and Mr. William 
Spratt was President, CEO and a director, was the subject of an Ontario cease trade order dated October 8, 2008 for 
failure to file financial statements. The cease trade order was rescinded on November 19, 2008. 
 
CMC Metals Ltd., at the time that Steve Mathiesen was a director, was the subject of a cease trade order dated 
September 3, 2009 pending filing of a technical report and clarifying disclosure. The cease trade order was rescinded 
on January 15, 2010. 
 
Other than as disclosed herein, to the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director, officer of the 
Issuer, nor any shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer is, 
or within the ten years prior to the date hereof has been, a director or executive officer of any corporation (including 
the Issuer) that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that 
capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that other corporation. 
  
Penalties or Sanctions 
 
To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director or officer of the Issuer, nor any shareholder 
holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to materially affect control of the Issuer has been subject to any penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority or been subject to 
any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 
 
Personal Bankruptcies 
 
To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director or officer of the Issuer, nor any shareholder 
holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, nor any personal holding 
company of any such person has, within the ten years before the date of this Prospectus become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangements or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the 
assets of that person. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
The directors of the Issuer are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the 
Issuer and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of the Issuer. If a conflict of 
interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict will disclose his interest and abstain 
from voting on such matter. 
 
To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, and other than as disclosed herein, there are no known existing or potential 
conflicts of interest among the Issuer, its promoters, directors and officers or other members of management of the 
Issuer or of any proposed promoter, director, officer or other member of management as a result of their outside 
business interests except that certain of the directors and officers serve as directors and officers of other companies, 
and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to the Issuer and their duties as a director or 
officer of such other companies. 
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
The summary compensation tables below set out particulars of compensation paid for the financial years ended 
August 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 to the individuals who were Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
(the “Named Executive Officers”) of Strachan during those periods and the anticipated compensation to Lotus’ CEO 
and CFO.  Strachan did not have any other executive officers whose total salary and other compensation during such 
period exceeded $150,000. 
 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
 
Lotus does not have a compensation committee or a formal compensation policy. Lotus relies solely on the Board of 
Directors to determine the compensation of the Named Executive Officers. In determining compensation, the Board 
of Directors considers industry standards and Lotus’s financial situation but does not currently have any formal 
objectives or criteria. The performance of each Named Executive Officer is informally monitored by the Board of 
Directors, having in mind the business strengths of the individual and the purpose of originally appointing the 
individual as an officer. Lotus is expected to rely solely on the Board to determine the compensation of the executive 
officers.  In determining compensation, the Board will consider industry standards and Lotus’s financial situation 
without any formal objectives or criteria. 
 
Option-based Awards 
 
Please see “Options to Purchase Securities”. In considering new grants to executive officers, the board of directors 
considers the number of options, if any, previously granted to each executive officer.  
 
Summary Compensation Table for Strachan (Historical) 
 
The following table sets out particulars of compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers for the financial years 
ended August 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 for Strachan. 
 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Year 
(or 

part) 

Salary 
($) 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

Annual 
incentive 

plans 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

Pension 
value 

($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Steve 
Mathiesen 
President, 
CEO(1) 

2011 
2012 
2013 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
 

8,325  
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 
 

8,325 
Nil 
Nil 
 

Gary 
Mathiesen 
CFO(1) 

2011  
2012 
2013 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

8,325  
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

8,325 
Nil 
Nil 

1. Gary Mathiesen was President and CEO from May 12, 2010 to Feb 20, 2012. He has been CFO and Secretary since Feb 20, 
2012.  Steve Mathiesen was CFO and Secretary from May 12, 2010 to Feb 20, 2012.  He has been President and CEO since 
Feb 20, 2012. 

 
Share-based payment transactions 
  
Strachan operates an employee stock option plan. Share-based payments to directors, officers, employees and 
consultants are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-
based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or the fair value of 
the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, 
and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the stock 
option reserve.  The fair value of options is determined using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all 
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market vesting conditions. The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end 
of each reporting period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity 
instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

 
Summary Compensation Table for Lotus 
 
The following table sets out the anticipated compensation to Lotus’s CEO and  CFO for the 12-month period 
following the date of this Prospectus. Lotus does not have any other executive officer whose total salary and other 
compensation will exceed $150,000.  
 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 

compensation ($) 
 

Name and 
principal 
position 

Salary 
($) 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

Annual 
incentive 

plans 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 
 

 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Dale 
McClanaghan 
President and 
CEO 

$42,000 Nil Nil(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil 42,000 

Gary 
Mathiesen 
CFO(1) 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

1. Gary Mathiesen’s services will be provided to Lotus through his company Quay Property Management Ltd. at a rate of 
$100 per hour. 

2. Lotus intends to grant 500,000 Lotus Options to Dale McClanaghan exercisable for $0.25 per share and expiring five 
years after the date of listing on the CSE. 

 
Incentive Plan Awards 
 
The following table sets out particulars of the option-based awards, granted to the Named Executive Officers of 
Strachan and outstanding as at August 31, 2013. Strachan did not have any share-based awards. 
 
 Option-based Awards 
Name Number of securities 

underlying unexercised 
options (#) 

Option 
exercise price 

($) 

Option 
expiration date 

Value of unexercised in-
the-money options ($)(1) 

Steve Mathiesen 150,000 0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil 
Gary Mathiesen 150,000 0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil 

1. On August 30, 2013 the market price for the shares was $0.005 per share. 
 
Please see “Options to Purchase Securities” for options anticipated to be held by the officers of Lotus. It is not 
anticipated that Lotus will have any share-based or non-equity incentive plan compensation in the 12 months 
following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Incentive plan awards - value vested or earned during the year 
 
The following table sets out the value of option-based awards which vested in the Named Executive Officers of 
Strachan for the financial year ended August 31, 2013. Strachan did not have any share-based awards or non-equity 
incentive plan compensation. 
 
Name Option-based awards 

- Value vested during 
the year  

Share-based awards -
Value vested during 

the year  

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation -Value earned 

during the year  
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($) ($) ($) 
Steve Mathiesen Nil N/A N/A 
Gary Mathiesen Nil N/A N/A 

 
Pension Plan Benefits 
 
Lotus does not have any pension or retirement plan. Lotus does not have any deferred compensation plan. It is not 
anticipated that Lotus will have any pension or retirement plan or deferred compensation plan in the 12 months 
following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 
 
Lotus does not have any contract, agreement, plan or arrangement that provides for payments to the Named 
Executive Officers at, following, or in connection with any termination (whether voluntary, involuntary or 
constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of Lotus or a change in a Named Executive Officer's 
responsibilities.  It is not anticipated that Lotus will enter into any such agreement with its CEO or CFO in the 12 
months following the date of this Prospectus 
 
Director Compensation 
 
There was no compensation provided to the directors of Strachan, who are not Named Executive Officers of 
Strachan, for the financial year ended August 31, 2013.  It is anticipated that Lotus will pay directors $200 per 
meeting in their capacity as directors. 
 
Share-based awards, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan compensation 
 
The following table sets out particulars of the option-based awards granted to directors of Strachan, other than 
directors who are also Named Executive Officers of Strachan, outstanding as at August 31, 2013. Strachan did not 
have any share-based awards or non-equity incentive plan compensation.  

 Option-based Awards 
Name Number of securities 

underlying unexercised 
options (#) 

Option 
exercise price 

($) 

Option expiration 
date 

Value of unexercised in-
the-money options ($)(1) 

William Spratt 100,000 0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil 

Peter Leitch 100,000 0.10 Dec 24, 2015 Nil 

1. On August 30, 2013 the market price for the shares was $0.005 per share. 
 
Please see “Options to Purchase Securities” for options anticipated to be held by directors of Lotus. It is not 
anticipated that Lotus will have any share-based awards or non-equity incentive plan compensation in the 12 months 
following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Incentive plan awards - value vested or earned during the year 
 
The following table sets out the value of option-based awards which vested in each director of Strachan, who is not a 
Named Executive Officer, for the financial year ended August 31, 2013. Strachan did not have any share-based 
awards or non-equity incentive plan compensation. 
 
Name Option-based awards 

— Value vested during 
the year ($) 

Share-based awards – 
Value vested during the 

year ($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation -Value earned during 

the year ($) 
William  Spratt Nil N/A N/A 
Peter Leitch Nil N/A N/A

 
 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
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As at the date of this Prospectus none of the directors and executive officers of Lotus, proposed directors and officers 
for Lotus, or associates of such persons is indebted to Lotus or another entity where the indebtedness is the subject of 
a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by Lotus. 
 

 
 
 

AUDIT COMMITTES AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee’s Charter 
The text of the audit committee’s charter is attached hereto as Appendix “D”.  It is anticipated that Lotus will adopt 
this charter. 
 
Composition of the Audit Committee 
The members of the audit committee of Lotus are Dale McClanaghan, Steve Mathiesen and Carl Busby.  
 
All members are financially literate and all members are independent except for Dale McClanaghan who is the 
President and CEO of Lotus.  
 
Relevant Education and Experience 
All members of the audit committee of Lotus have been involved with public companies and Dale McClanaghan and 
Steve Mathiesen each have many years of experience as directors or officers of reporting issuers. 
 
Each audit committee member has had extensive experience reviewing financial statements. Each member has an 
understanding of Lotus’s business and has an appreciation for the relevant accounting principles for that business.   
 
Audit Committee Oversight 
For Strachan, at no time since the beginning of the financial year completed August 31, 2013 was a recommendation 
of the audit committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Strachan. 
 
Reliance on Certain Exemptions 
At no time since the beginning of the financial year ended August 31, 2013 has Strachan relied on the exemption 
provided in section 2.4 of NI 52-110 (De minimis Non-audit Services) or an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or 
in part, granted under Part 8 (Exemptions).  It is not anticipated that Lotus will rely on any of the above exemptions. 
 
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 
The audit committee of Lotus has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit 
services but all such services will be subject to the prior approval of the audit committee.  
 
External Auditor Service Fees 
The aggregate fees billed by Strachan’s external auditors for the financial years completed August 31, 2012 and 
August 31, 2013 for the following fees are: 
 

Financial Year Ending Audit Fees Audit-Related Fees Tax Fees All Other Fees 
August 31, 2012 $8,900 

 
Nil Nil Nil 

August 31, 2013 7,750 Nil $500 Nil 
 
Exemption 
Lotus is a “venture issuer” as defined in NI 52-110 and is relying on the exemption in section 6.1 of NI 52-110 
relating to Parts 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and 5 (Reporting Obligations).   
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Corporate Governance Practices 
 
Corporate governance relates to the activities of the board of directors (the “Board”), the members of which are 
elected by and are accountable to the shareholders, and takes into account the role of the individual members of 
management who are appointed by the Board and who are charged with the day-to-day management of Lotus. The 
Board is committed to sound corporate governance practices, which are both in the interest of its shareholders and 
contribute to effective and efficient decision making. The Board is of the view that Lotus’s general approach to 
corporate governance, summarized below, is appropriate and substantially consistent with objectives reflected in the 
guidelines for improved corporate governance in Canada adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators (the 
“National Guidelines”). 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The Board is currently composed of three directors. 
 
The National Guidelines suggest that the board of directors of every listed company should be constituted with a 
majority of individuals who qualify as “independent” directors. An “independent” director is a director who is 
independent of management and is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with a view to the best interests of 
Lotus, other than interests and relationships arising from shareholding. In addition, where a company has a 
significant shareholder, the National Guidelines suggest that the board of directors should include a number of 
directors who do not have interests in either the company or the significant shareholder. Dale McClanaghan is an 
“insider” or management director and accordingly considered to be “related”. Steve Mathiesen and Carl Busby are 
considered to be “independent” directors of Lotus. In assessing the Guidelines and making the foregoing 
determinations, the circumstances of each director have been examined in relation to a number of factors.   
 
Other Directorships 
 
The following table sets out the directors of Lotus who are presently directors of other issuers that are reporting 
issuers in any Canadian jurisdiction. 
 

Name 
Name of Reporting 

Issuer 

Name or 
Exchange 
or Market Position From To 

Steve Mathiesen RockBridge Resources 
Inc. 

TSXV Director and 
Secretary 

Nov 2007 Present 

Dale 
McClanaghan 

BCM Resources 
Corporation 

TSXV Director, 
President and 

CEO 

Jun 2005 Present 

 
Orientation and Continuing Education 
 
The Board has not adopted formal steps to orient new board members. The Board’s continuing education is typically 
derived from correspondence with Lotus’s legal counsel to remain up to date with developments in relevant corporate 
and securities law matters.  It is not anticipated that the board of Lotus will adopt formal steps in the 12 months 
following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Ethical Business Conduct 
 
The Board has not adopted formal guidelines to encourage and promote a culture of ethical business conduct but does 
promote ethical business conduct by nominating board members it considers ethical, by avoiding or minimizing 
conflicts of interest and by having a sufficient number of its board members independent of corporate matters.  It is 
not anticipated that the board of Lotus will adopt formal guidelines in the 12 months following the date of this 
Prospectus. 
 
Nomination of Directors 
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The Board determines new nominees to the Board, although a formal process has not been adopted. The nominees 
are generally the result of recruitment efforts by the Board members, including both formal and informal discussions 
among Board members.  It is not anticipated that the board of Lotus will adopt a formal process to determine new 
nominees in the 12 months following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
 
 
Compensation 
 
The directors decide as a Board the compensation for Lotus’s officers and directors, based on industry standards and 
Lotus’s financial situation.   
 
Other Board Committees 
 
The Board has not established any committees other than its audit committee. All decisions are made by full board of 
director meetings or consent resolutions.  It is not anticipated that the board of Lotus will establish any committee 
other than its audit committee in the 12 months following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Assessments 
 
The Board monitors but does not formally assess the performance of individual Board members or committee 
members or their contributions. Effectiveness is subjectively measured by comparing actual corporate results with 
stated objectives. The contributions of an individual director is informally monitored by the other Board members, 
having in mind the business strengths of the individual and the purpose of originally nominating the individual to the 
Board.  It is not anticipated that the board of Lotus will perform formal assessments of its members in the 12 months 
following the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Lotus feels its corporate governance practices are appropriate and effective for Lotus, given its relatively small size 
and limited operations. Lotus’s method of corporate governance allows for Lotus to operate efficiently, with simple 
checks and balances that control and monitor management and corporate functions without excessive administrative 
burden. 

RISK FACTORS 
 

The following are certain factors relating to the business of Lotus which factors investors should carefully consider 
when making an investment decision concerning the shares of Lotus. These risks and uncertainties are not the only 
ones facing Lotus. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to Lotus, or that Lotus currently deems 
immaterial, may also impair the operations of Lotus. If any such risks actually occur, shareholders could lose all or 
part of their investment and the financial condition, liquidity and results of operations of Lotus could be materially 
adversely affected and the ability of Lotus to implement its growth plans could be adversely affected. 
 
An investment in Lotus is speculative. An investment in Lotus will be subject to certain material risks and investors 
should not invest in securities of Lotus unless they can afford to lose their entire investment. The following is a 
description of certain risks and uncertainties that may affect the business of Lotus. 
 
General 
 
A purchase of any of the securities of Lotus involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only by 
purchasers whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for 
immediate liquidity in their investment. An investment in the securities of Lotus should not constitute a major portion 
of an individual’s investment portfolio and should only be made by persons who can afford a total loss of their 
investment. Prospective purchasers should evaluate carefully the following risk factors associated with an investment 
in Lotus’s securities prior to purchasing any of the securities.  

 
Risks Associated with Obtaining an MMPR License 
 
There are substantial risks concerning the time required for Lotus to complete the MMPR license application 
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process and whether Lotus can obtain an MMPR license at all.  
 
1. Risk as to whether Lotus’s MMPR license application will be of sufficient quality. There is extensive 

knowledge required to complete the various elements of the MMPR license application. These are the security 
plans for the facility, the quality control plans and the record keeping plans. In addition, the facility design and 
floor plan must adequately incorporate the security and quality control plans. This requires a high degree of 
skill and experience. There is no assurance that Lotus has sufficient skill and experience or whether it can 
retain professional input needed for Health Canada to conclude that the plans in Lotus’s MMPR license 
application are acceptable.  

   
2. Time required for Health Canada to accept Lotus’s MMPR application. The MMPR application is a 

complex undertaking and the review process is extensive. It is uncertain as to how many applications Health 
Canada will receive and be reviewing, and therefore Lotus’s estimates of the time required for review of its 
application may not be correct. To date, Health Canada has received more than 1,000 applications. 

 
3. Lotus may not be able to obtain the estimated $1.6 million to build the facility. In the event that the plans in 

Lotus’s MMPR license application are acceptable to Health Canada and it is required to build the facility 
according to those plans, Lotus does not have sufficient funds to do this. There is no assurance that Lotus will 
be able to obtain this financing at all, or obtain it under acceptable terms. In the event that Lotus were required 
to finance this by the issuance of its shares, this could involve a very substantial degree of dilution of Lotus’s 
shares. 

 
4. Risk relating to building the facility. Building the facility according to the plans in Lotus’s MMPR 

application requires specialized skills. While Lotus expects to engage competent professionals to undertake 
this, there is no assurance that it can be done, or whether Lotus’s estimate of the time required to do this is 
accurate. It is not certain that it will be accomplished in a manner satisfactory to Health Canada in order for 
Health Canada to issue MMPR license. There is a risk that the build-out of the facility may be subject to local 
government building permit delays, construction cost overruns, or construction delays. 

 
5. Risk relating to the time required for Lotus to obtain an MMPR license Given the complexity of the MMPR 

application process, the financing risk and the risks associated with the construction of the facility, and the 
time required for these, there is a risk that Health Canada may change the MMPR regime in ways that Lotus 
does not foresee. For example, Health Canada could decide only to permit a certain number of applications, in 
which Lotus’s might not be included, or increase or change the requirements to complete the application 
process or to obtain an MMPR license.   

 
Health Canada has Received more than 1,000 Applications 
 
To date, Health Canada has received more than 1,000 MMPR license applications. It is unknown how many more 
applications Health Canada will receive and be reviewing. It is unknown how long it will take Health Canada to 
review the applications. 
 
Risk of Lotus Not Owning or Having a Long Term Lease on the Facility 
 
Carl Correia and his private company (“Correia”) have operated the facility at its current location since December 
2012, but currently have a month to month lease. Though Correia is negotiating a longer term lease with the owner of 
the property there is no assurance that these negotiations will be successful, and if they are not successful, Lotus 
would not be able to build the facility as planned. 
 
Strachan had negative operating cash flow 
 
Before the Amalgamation, Strachan generated no revenues and had negative cash flow from operating activities.  
 
Regulatory Risks 
 
In the event that Lotus exercises the option pursuant to the Option Agreement, its activities would be subject to 
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regulation by governmental authorities, particularly Health Canada. Achievement of Lotus's business objectives are 
contingent, in part, upon compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities and 
obtaining all regulatory approvals necessary. Lotus cannot predict the time required to secure all appropriate 
regulatory approvals. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the 
development of Lotus’s plans and could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and 
financial condition of Lotus. 

 
Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines 
 
In the event that Lotus exercises the option pursuant to the Option Agreement, Lotus’s improvement of the facility 
and application for an MMPR license are subject to a variety laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the 
manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including laws and 
regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment. Changes to 
such laws, regulations and guidelines due to matters beyond the control of Lotus may cause adverse effects to Lotus. 
 
On March 21, 2014 the Federal Court of Canada issued an order affecting the repeal of the MMAR and the 
application of certain portions of the MMPR which are inconsistent with the MMAR in response to a motion brought 
by four individuals. This order and its anticipated effects on Lotus are described above under the heading "Legal 
Process Taking Place". As of the date of this Information Circular it is unclear how the Government of Canada will 
react to this order or how the Federal Court of Canada might ultimately decide the case to which the order relates. 
The risks to the business of Lotus represented by this or similar actions are that they might lead to court rulings or 
legislative changes that allow those with existing licences to possess and/or grow medical marihuana and perhaps 
others to opt out of the regulated supply system implemented through the MMPR. This could materially and 
adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of Lotus. 
 
Limited Operating History 
 
Lotus has no history of earnings. Lotus has no present prospect of generating revenue from the sale of products. 
Lotus is therefore subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash 
shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no 
assurance that Lotus will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders' investment and the likelihood of 
success must be considered in light of the early stage of operations. 

 
Reliance on a Single Facility 
 
Lotus’s present plans are to have one facility located in Spallumcheen, British Columbia. Adverse changes or 
developments affecting this location could have a material and adverse effect on Lotus’s business, financial condition 
and prospects. 
 
Reliance on Management 
 
The success of Lotus is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of its senior 
management. While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary method of retaining the services of 
key employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. Any loss of the services of 
such individuals could have a material adverse effect on Lotus's business, operating results or financial condition. 
 
Additional Financing 
 
To exercise the option pursuant to the Option Agreement, apply for the licence under the MMPR and upgrade the 
facility and equipment will be capital intensive. Lotus will require equity and/or debt financing to support on-going 
operations, to undertake capital expenditures or to undertake acquisitions or other business combination transactions. 
There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available to Lotus when needed or on terms which are 
acceptable. Lotus's inability to raise financing to fund capital expenditures or acquisitions could limit Lotus's growth 
and may have a material adverse effect upon future profitability.  
 
If additional funds are raised through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders 
could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences and privileges 
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superior to those of holders of Common Shares. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive 
covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more 
difficult for Lotus to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. 
 
Competition 
 
There is potential that Lotus will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to 
have longer operating histories and more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than 
Lotus. See "Narrative Description of the Business - Present Competitive Environment" for further details about the 
competition faced and to be faced by Lotus. Increased competition by larger and better financed competitors could 
materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of Lotus. 
 
Because of the early stage of the industry in which Lotus will operate, Lotus expects to face additional competition 
from new entrants. If the number of users of medical marijuana in Canada increases, the demand for products will 
increase and Lotus expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to 
offer an increasing number of diversified products. To become and remain competitive, Lotus will require research 
and development, marketing, sales and client support. Lotus may not have sufficient resources to maintain research 
and development, marketing, sales and client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and 
adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of Lotus. 
 
Risks Inherent in an Agricultural Business 
 
Medical marijuana is an agricultural product. There are risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, 
plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. Although the products are grown indoors under climate controlled 
conditions, with conditions monitored, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material 
adverse effect on the production of its products. 
 
Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs 
 
Medical marijuana growing operations consume considerable energy, making Lotus potentially vulnerable to rising 
energy costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of Lotus and its ability to operate 
profitably. 

 
Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception 
 
Lotus believes the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer perception regarding the safety, 
efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced. Consumer perception can be significantly influenced by 
scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the 
consumption of medical marijuana products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, 
regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favorable to the 
medical marijuana market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, 
findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable 
than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the 
demand for medical marijuana and on the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of Lotus. 
Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of medical 
marijuana in general, or associating the consumption of medical marijuana with illness or other negative effects or 
events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise. 
 
Product Liability 
 
In the event that Lotus is able to obtain the MMPR License, as a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to 
be ingested by humans, Lotus would face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action 
and litigation if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale 
of marijuana involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product 
contamination. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of marijuana alone or in 
combination with other medications or substances could occur. Lotus could in the event it becomes a licensee under 
the MMPR and can sell medical marijuana be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, 
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that the marihuana product caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate 
warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or 
regulatory action against Lotus could result in increased costs, could adversely affect Lotus's reputation with its 
clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial 
condition of Lotus. There can be no assurances that Lotus will be able to obtain or maintain product liability 
insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and 
may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage 
on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the 
commercialization of Lotus's potential products. 
 
Product Recalls 
 
Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a variety 
of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or interactions with 
other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. Such recalls cause unexpected 
expenses of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection with the recall. This can cause loss of 
a significant amount of sales. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. 
Additionally, product recall can lead to increased scrutiny of operations by Health Canada or other regulatory 
agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 
 
Reliance on Key Inputs 
 
The marijuana business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials and 
supplies related to its growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant 
interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could materially 
impact the business, financial condition and operating results. Some of these inputs may only be available from a 
single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. If a sole source supplier was to go out of business, Lotus might be 
unable to find a replacement for such source in a timely manner or at all. If a sole source supplier were to be acquired 
by a competitor, that competitor may elect not to sell to Lotus in the future. Any inability to secure required supplies 
and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact on the business, financial 
condition and operating results. 
 
Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour 
 
The ability of Lotus to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable cost and in a timely 
manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be given that Lotus will be successful 
in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. It is also possible that the final 
costs of the major equipment contemplated by Lotus's capital expenditure program may be significantly greater than 
anticipated by Lotus's management, and may be greater than funds available to Lotus, in which circumstance Lotus 
may curtail, or extend the timeframes for completing, its capital expenditure plans. This could have an adverse effect 
on the financial results of Lotus. 
 
Difficulty to Forecast 
 
Lotus must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are not generally obtainable 
from other sources at this early stage of the medical marijuana industry in Canada. A failure in the demand for its 
products to materialize as a result of competition, technological change or other factors could have a material adverse 
effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of Lotus. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of Lotus are, or may become directors and officers of other companies, and 
conflicts of interest may arise between their duties as officers and directors of Lotus and as officers and directors of 
such other companies. 
 
Litigation 
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Lotus may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business which could adversely 
affect its business.  Should any litigation in which Lotus becomes involved be determined against Lotus such a 
decision could adversely affect Lotus's ability to continue operating and the market price for Lotus's common shares 
and could use significant resources. Even if Lotus is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant 
company resources. 
 
The market price of Lotus’s Common Shares may be subject to wide price fluctuations 
 
The market price of Lotus’s common shares may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to many factors, 
including variations in the operating results of Lotus and its subsidiaries, divergence in financial results from 
analysts' expectations, changes in earnings estimates by stock market analysts, changes in the business prospects for 
Lotus and its subsidiaries, general economic conditions, legislative changes, and other events and factors outside of 
Lotus's control. In addition, stock markets have from time to time experienced extreme price and volume 
fluctuations, which, as well as general economic and political conditions, could adversely affect the market price for 
Lotus’s common shares. 
 
Dividends 
 
Lotus has no earnings or dividend record, and does not anticipate paying any dividends on the common shares in the 
foreseeable future. Dividends paid by Lotus would be subject to tax and, potentially, withholdings. 
 
Limited Market for Securities 
 
It is proposed that Lotus’s common shares will be listed on the CSE, however, there can be no assurance that such 
listing will be obtained and even if obtained, that an active and liquid market for the common shares will develop or 
be maintained and an investor may find it difficult to resell any securities of Lotus. 
 

PROMOTERS 

Carl Busby is the controlling shareholder and the promoter and a director of Lotus. He will receive $200 per meeting 
as a director from Lotus. Carl Busby is a party to the Assignment Agreement and the Management Incentive 
Agreement.. 
 
Other than as disclosed in this section and under “Executive Compensation” or elsewhere in this Prospectus, no 
person who was a promoter of the Issuer within the last two years: 
 

(a) received anything of value directly or indirectly from the Issuer or a subsidiary; 
 

(b) sold or otherwise transferred any asset to the Issuer or a subsidiary within the last 2 years;  
 

(c) has been a director, officer or promoter of any company that during the past 10 years was the subject of a 
cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any exemptions under 
securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold 
its assets; 

 
(d) has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation 

or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; 

 
(e) has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be 

likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision; or 
 

(f) has within the past 10 years become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy 
or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 
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had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 
 
The Issuer is not a party to any legal proceedings and is not aware of any such proceedings known to be 
contemplated.  Management of the Issuer is not aware that Lotus is a party to any legal proceedings or that any such 
proceedings are known to be contemplated. 
 
No penalties or sanctions have been imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory body within the three years immediately preceding the date of this 
Prospectus.  Management of the Issuer is not aware of any such penalties or sanctions imposed against Lotus. 
 
The Issuer has not entered into any settlement agreements before a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of 
this Prospectus.  Management of the Issuer is not aware of any such settlement agreements entered into by Lotus. 

 
 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 
 
Other than as set forth in this Prospectus, the management of Lotus is not aware of any material interest, direct or 
indirect, of any director, executive officer, any Person or Company beneficially owning, controlling or directing, 
directly or indirectly, more than ten percent of the outstanding voting securities of Lotus, or any Associate or 
Affiliate of the foregoing Persons, in any transaction in which Lotus has participated within the three years before the 
date of this Prospectus, that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect Lotus. 
 
William Spratt was a director of Strachan and one of the Strachan Founders. He owned 50,000 shares of Strachan 
subject to the CPC Escrow Agreement and had options to purchase 100,000 shares of Strachan expiring December 
24, 2015. Mr. Spratt also owned 250,000 common shares of Private Lotus.  
 
Lotus will pay Mr. McClanaghan $3,500 per month for these services.  As part of this management agreement, Mr. 
McClanaghan will agree to confidentiality and non-disclosure provisions.  
 
Lotus is also expected to enter into a contract with Quay Property Management Ltd., a company wholly owned by 
Gary Mathiesen, for his services as CFO at $100 per hour. As part of his agreement, Mr. Gary Mathiesen will agree 
to confidentiality and non-disclosure provisions.  
 
Carl Busby is a party to the Assignment Agreement and the Management Incentive Agreement and is a director of 
Lotus.  Dale McClanaghan is a party to the Management Incentive Agreement and is President, CEO and a director 
of Lotus. Carl Correia is a party to the Option Exercise Agreement and is COO of Lotus. 
 
 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 
Auditors 
 
The auditors of the Issuer are DeVisser Gray LLP, chartered accountants of 401 - 905 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1L6.  It is anticipated that DeVisser Gray LLP will be the auditors of Lotus. 

Registrar and Transfer Agent 
 
The registrar and transfer agent of the Issuer is Computershare Trust Company of 510 Burrard Street, 2nd Floor, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3B9.   

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
 
Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts entered into 
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by the Issuer or Lotus within two years prior to the date hereof which are currently in effect and considered to be 
currently material: 
 
1. Stock Option Plan (See “Options to Purchase Securities”);  
 
2. The Amalgamation Agreement (See “Description of the Business - Amalgamation”);  
 
3. The Option Exercise Agreement (See “Description of the Business – The Option Exercise Agreement”);  
 
4. The Management Incentive Agreement (See “Description of the Business – Three Year History of Strahcn and 

Lotus”). 
 
5. The Escrow Cancellation Agreement (See “Escrowed Shares”); and 
 
6. The CSE Escrow Agreement; (See “Escrowed Shares - CSE Escrow Shares”); 
 
The above contracts may be inspected without charge at the registered office of Lotus located at the offices of 
Stephen K. Winters Law Corporation at 910 – 1125 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 2K8 during 
ordinary business hours for a period of 30 days from the date of this Prospectus. 
 
Board Approval 
 
The Board of Directors of Lotus has approved the contents of this Prospectus. 
 

EXPERTS 
 

The following are persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made in this 
Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of that document or report described in the Prospectus: 
 

DeVisser Gray LLP, Chartered Accountants.  
DeVisser Gray LLP is independent in accordance with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a jurisdiction of 
Canada 
 
Interest of Experts 
 
To the knowledge of management, as of the date hereof, no expert, nor any Associate or Affiliate of such person has 
any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in the securities or property of Strachan, Private Lotus or Lotus or of an 
Associate or Affiliate of any of them, and no such person is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
director, officer or employee of Lotus or of an Associate or Affiliate thereof, except that Stephen K. Winters Law 
Corporation will be filing the application to the CSE for the listing of the Lotus Shares. The principal of Stephen K. 
Winters Law Corporation has a beneficial interest in 2,400,000 shares of Lotus, will as a result will have a beneficial 
interest in 2,400,000 Lotus Shares and has been granted 500,000 Lotus Options exercisable for five years at $0.25 per 
share.. 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 
 
To management’s knowledge, there are no other material facts relating to Lotus that are not otherwise disclosed in 
this Prospectus or are necessary for the Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts 
relating to Lotus.  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Appendix “A” Strachan Audited Financial Statements at August 31, 2012 and 2013 and Unaudited Interim 
Financial Statements at May 31, 2014 

Appendix “B” Private Lotus Audited Financial Statements at August 31, 2013 and Audited Interim Financial 
Statements at May 31, 2014 

Appendix “C” Proforma Financial Statements at May 31, 2014     



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix “A” 
 

Strachan Audited Financial Statements at August 31, 2012 and 2013  
and  

Unaudited Interim Financial Statements at May 31, 2014 



For the years ended August 31, 2013 and August 31, 2012

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

To the Shareholders of Strachan Resources Ltd., 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Strachan Resources Ltd. which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at August 31, 2013 and August 31, 2012, and the statements of comprehensive loss, changes in 
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the  financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Strachan Resources 
Ltd. at August 31, 2013 and 2012 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 
August 31, 2012 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.  
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company 
has no current sources of revenue and is dependent upon its ability to secure new sources of financing. These conditions, 
along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
 
 
 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, BC 
December 20, 2013      



2013 2012

Current
    Cash and cash equivalents - Note 1, 9  $           3,808  $       153,255 
    Amounts receivable             13,932               4,097 

            17,740           157,352 

Non-current
     Exploration and evaluation - Note 4                       -             10,000 
Total assets  $         17,740  $       167,352 

Current
    Trade and other payables  $         34,667  $         30,798 
Total liabilities             34,667             30,798 

Share capital – Note 5           318,507           316,050 
Reserves             41,200             41,200 
Deficit          (376,634)          (220,696)
Total shareholders' equity            (16,927)           136,554 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  $         17,740  $       167,352 

Nature and Continuance of Operations – Note 1

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
 

Approved and authorized by the Board on December 19, 2013.

    "Gary Mathiesen"                   Director       "Steve Mathiesen"                     Director
      Gary Mathiesen                                           Steve Mathiesen

LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD.
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at August 31,

ASSETS

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



2013 2012

  General and administrative expenses
    Accounting fees - Note 6  $        15,965  $        13,147 
    Bank charges                 275                 127 
    Exploration & evaluation costs              3,047            20,400 
    Filing and listing fees            21,354              9,722 
    Legal            45,584            36,779 
    Marketing              1,763              1,136 
    Office expense - Note 6              8,070            11,295 
  Loss before other items            96,058            92,606 
  Other items
    Interest income               (526)            (2,281)
    Impairment of acquisition costs            20,000                     - 
    Qualifying transaction costs            40,406                     - 
  Net and comprehensive loss for the year  $      155,938  $        90,325 

Basic and diluted loss per share  $            0.03  $            0.02 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 4,709,590       5,000,001 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the years ended August 31,
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



Number Amount Reserves Deficit Total

Balance, August 31, 2011 5,000,001 316,050$        41,200$          (130,371)$        226,879$      

     Net loss for the year -                   -                  -                  (90,325)            (90,325)         

Balance, August 31, 2012 5,000,001 316,050$        41,200$          (220,696)$        136,554$      

Balance, August 31, 2012 5,000,001 316,050$        41,200$          (220,696)$        136,554$      

     Cancellation of escrow shares (1,000,001)       -                  -                  -                   -                

     Share issue costs -                   2,457              -                  -                   2,457            

     Net loss for the year -                   -                  -                  (155,938)          (155,938)       

Balance, August 31, 2013 4,000,000 318,507$        41,200$          (376,634)$        (16,927)$       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD.
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Share capital



2013 2012 

Operating activities
    Net loss for the year  $       (155,938)  $         (90,325)
    Adjustment for non-cash working capital items:
       Impairment of acquisition costs               20,000                        - 
    Changes in non-cash working capital items:
       Amounts receivable               (7,378)                  (945)
       Trade and other payables                 3,869                 5,509 
Net cash flows used in operating activities           (139,447)             (85,761)

Investing activites
    Exploration and evaluation             (10,000)             (10,000)
Net cash flows used in investing activities             (10,000)             (10,000)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents           (149,447)             (95,761)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year             153,255             249,016 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year  $             3,808  $         153,255 

Supplementary Cash Flow and Non-Cash Activities – Note 9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended August 31,
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 1 Nature and Continuance of Operation 
  

Strachan Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated on May 12, 2010 under the Business 
Corporations Act of British Columbia.  The Company is classified as a Capital Pool Company (CPC) 
as defined in Policy 2.4 of the TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”). 

  
The Company has not been able to complete its qualifying transaction in the time frame required by 
the TSX Venture Exchange. It has now transferred its listing to the NEX board of the exchange. The 
transfer to NEX is effective May 28, 2013, and the trading of its common shares has been reinstated 
on NEX. 
 
The Company’s continuing operations as intended are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate 
and negotiate an acquisition of, a participation in or an interest in properties, assets or businesses.  
Such an acquisition will be subject to regulatory approval and may be subject to shareholder 
approval.  In order to continue as a going concern and meet its corporate objectives, the Company 
will require additional financing through debt or equity issuances or other available means. There is 
no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such 
financing will be on terms advantageous to the Company. 

 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should 
the Company be unable to continue in existence. 

 
 
Note 2 Basis of Preparation 
 
  Statement of Compliance 
 
  These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 
   
  Basis of Measurement 
 
  These financial statements have been prepared on a historical costs basis except for financial 

instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at 
their fair value.  In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting.  

 
  These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional 

currency.  
  

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates.  

  



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies 
 
   Financial instruments 
   
  Financial assets 
 
  The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the 

purpose for which the asset was acquired, as follows: 
 

   Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or 
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing such financial assets in the near 
term. They are carried in the statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss or income.  The Company has 
classified its cash as fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at cost less any 
provision for impairment. Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment 
when they are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty 
will default.  The Company has classified its amounts receivable as loans and receivables. 

 
Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired, 
determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial asset 
is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying 
amount of the investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in the statements of 
comprehensive loss or income. 

 
Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are 
classified as available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial 
asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from equity 
and recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss or income. 

  
  All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for 

impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to 
determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are described above. 

  



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 3  Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
 
  Financial liabilities 
 
  The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose 

for which the asset was acquired, as follows: 
   

  Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired or 
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing such financial liabilities in the near 
term. They are carried in the statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair  

  value recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss or income.   
   
   Other financial liabilities: This category includes accounts payable and accrued liabilities, all of 

which are recognized at amortized cost. 
 
  Income taxes 
 

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax 
payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period 
end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recorded using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for 
temporary differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not 
provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities 
that affect neither accounting nor taxable loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries 
to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position 
date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider 
it is probable that a future tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that 
excess. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 
  Share capital 
 
  Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of 

common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 
  



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 3   Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
   
  Share-based payment transactions 
    
  The Company operates an employee stock option plan. Share-based payments to directors, officers, 

employees and consultants are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized 
over the vesting periods.  Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of 
goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair 
value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or 
services are received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the stock option reserve.  The fair 
value of options is determined using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market 
vesting conditions. The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the 
end of each reporting period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration 
for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually 
vest. 
 

  Income (loss) per share 
 
  The Company presents basic and diluted income (loss) per share data for its common shares, 

calculated by dividing the loss attributed to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted income (loss) per share 
does not adjust the income (loss) attributed to common shareholders or the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive. 

 
  Related party transactions 
 
  Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 

other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.  Related party may be individuals or corporate entities. A  transaction is considered to be a 
related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.  

 
  Provisions  

 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) that has 
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligations, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
Provisions for environmental restoration, legal claims, onerous leases and other onerous commitments 
are recognized at the best estimates of the expenditures required to settle the Company’s liability.  
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risk specific to the obligation.  An amount equivalent to the discounted provision is capitalized 
within tangible fixed assets and is depreciated over the useful lives of the related assets.  The increase 
in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  

  



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 

 
Use of estimates and judgments 

 
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
Areas requiring a significant degree of estimation and judgement relate to the determination of the fair 
value of financial instruments, share-based payments and other equity based payments and 
measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from those estimates and 
judgments.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Company, which may be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and 
assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is 
capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the 
amount capitalized is written off in the profit or loss in the period the new information becomes 
available.  Costs incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less (Note 9). 
 
Adoption of new and revised accounting standards and interpretations 

 
The IASB has issued the following standards which have not yet been adopted by the Company. 
Unless otherwise stated, each of the new standards is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. The Company has not yet assessed the 
impact that the new and amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to 
early adopt any of the new requirements.  

 
 

The following is a brief summary of the new standards: 
 
IFRS 7 Amendments  
 
The IASB has issued Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities as Amendments to 
IFRS 7, intended to help investors and other financial statement users to better assess the effect or 
potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a company’s financial position.  



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
 

IFRS 9 – Financial instruments - classification and measurement 
 

In November 2009 and October 2010, the IASB issued IFRS 9 – Financial instruments (“IFRS 
9”), Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. IFRS 9 will 
replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) in its entirety. 
IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset or liability is measured at 
amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. For financial assets, the 
approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of 
its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new 
standard also proposes a new expected loss impairment method to be used, replacing the existing 
incurred loss model in IAS 39. For financial liabilities measured at fair value, fair value changes 
due to changes in the Company’s credit risk are presented in other comprehensive income  
(“OCI”), instead of net profit, unless this would create an accounting mismatch.  IFRS 9 is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. 

 
IFRS 10 – Consolidation 

 
IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation—Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statement 

 
IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements 

 
IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint 
operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for 
a joint operation the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately 
consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interests 
in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-monetary Contributions by 
Venturers. 

  
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interests in other entities 

 
IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint 
arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard 
carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure 
requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other 
entities. 

 
IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement 

 
IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for 
use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be 
received on the sale of an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value  



STRACHAN RESOURCES LTD. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2013 AND 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
   
 
Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
 

measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed 
among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many cases does not 
reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.  

 
IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements 
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, requires that elements of other 
comprehensive income that may subsequently be recycled through profit or loss be differentiated 
from those items that will not be recycled. 
 
IAS 32 – Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 
 
The IASB has clarified its requirements for offsetting financial instruments by issuing 
Amendments to IAS 32 that address inconsistencies in current practice when applying the 
offsetting criteria in IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation. The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 and are required to be applied 
retrospectively.   
 
Amendments to Other Standards 

 
In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS 27, Separate 
Financial Statements (IAS 27), and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (IAS 
28). IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in 
non-consolidated financial statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its 
scope and to address the changes in IFRS 11. 

 
 
Note 4 Exploration and Evaluation  
  

Chu Chua Property, 
Canada 

Property acquisition costs   
 
Balance, beginning of year 

 
$ 

 
10,000 

Additions  10,000 
Impairment of acquisition costs   ( 20,000) 

Balance, August 31, 2013 $ - 

 
Exploration and evaluation assets consist of the Company's exploration projects which are pending 
the determination of proved or probable reserves. Costs primarily consist of acquisition payments 
already incurred under the pending agreement.   The  Company had entered into an agreement dated 
June 29, 2012 with Ken Ellerbeck and Gerald Locke, both of Kamloops, British Columbia (the 
“Optionors”), to acquire, subject to regulatory approval, up to 53 contiguous mineral claims known as  
the Chu Chua Property located in the Kamloops Mining Division, British Columbia. The proposed 
qualifying transaction with respect to the Chu Chua mineral property has now been terminated as 
announced on May 17, 2013.  All acquisition costs incurred have been impaired.  
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Note 5 Share Capital 
 

a) Authorized: 
 

 Unlimited common shares without par value. 

b) Issued: 
 

Refer to “Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.” 
 

The Company issued 2,500,001 shares to founders at $0.05 per share for cash proceeds of $125,000. 
These shares were valued by management and directors at $0.05 per share based on the relative price 
of other common share issuances at the time.  
 
On December 24, 2010, the Company successfully completed its initial public offering of 2,500,000 
common shares at $0.10 per share for gross proceeds of $250,000 pursuant to a prospectus dated 
November 24, 2010. The Company incurred an agent commission of $25,000, a $10,000 corporate 
finance fee and granted 250,000 agent’s warrants to purchase 250,000 common shares valued at 
$13,450 which are exercisable at $0.10 per share and expired on December 21, 2012.  
 
On May 17, 2013 1,000,001 of the shares to founders held in escrow were cancelled, per the TSX 
CPC Policy 2.4 where the issuer is moved to NEX. 
 
During the year, the Company failed to generate substantial interest in a share offering and 
subsequently cancelled the offering. However, the Company still incurred $37,949 in share issue 
costs and expenses related to the offering. 
 
The Company held its annual and special meeting of shareholders on March 21, 2013, at which, 
pursuant to the CPC policy, it received approval to transfer its listing to NEX and to cancel 1,000,001 
escrow seed shares held by certain non-arm's-length parties. 
 

c) Commitments: 
 

 i) Share Purchase Warrants 

 Number 

W/A 
Exercise 
Price 

Balance, August 31, 2012 250,000 $0.10 
Balance, August 31, 2013 - - 
   

All warrants expired on December 21, 2012.  
 
 ii) Share Purchase Options 
 
 The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) under which it is authorized to grant stock options 

to directors, officers, consultants and employees of the Company.  The maximum aggregate number 
of share purchase options granted under the Plan at any point in time, together with the existing 
options, will not exceed 10% of the outstanding issue at the time of the stock option grant. 
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Note 5 Share Capital – (cont’d) 
  

The number of common shares which may be reserved in any twelve month period for issuance to 
any one individual upon exercise of stock options held by that individual may not exceed 5% (2% for 
consultants) of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company unless the Company has 
obtained disinterested shareholder approval.  The exercise price of a share purchase option may not 
be less than the discounted market price of the common shares on the date of grant.  The share 
purchase options granted under the Plan may not exceed ten years.  

 
 

 On December 24, 2010, 500,000 director share purchase options were granted, subject to regulatory 
approval and effective on the closing of the Company’s initial public offering, entitling the holders 
thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held as follows: 

 
Number 

 
Exercise Price ($) 

 
Expiry Date 

500,000 0.10 December 24, 2015 

  Number 

W/A 
Exercise 
Price 

Balance,  August 31, 2012 500,000 $0.10 
Balance,  August 31, 2013 500,000 $0.10 

 
During the year ended August 31, 2013, share-based compensation expense of $nil (2012 - $nil) was 
recorded. 
 
d) Escrow Shares: 

 
 As at August 31, 2013, 1,500,000 common shares issued were held in escrow, subject to the Escrow 

Agreement.  The escrow shares are to be released pro rata to the escrow shareholder as follows: 
 

i) 150,000 common shares on the issuance of the Final Exchange Bulletin;   
  ii) 225,000 common shares 6 months thereafter; 
  ii) 225,000 common shares 12 months thereafter; 
  iii) 225,000 common shares 18 months thereafter; 
  iv) 225,000 common shares 24 months thereafter; 
   v) 225,000 common shares 30 months thereafter; and 
  vi) 225,000 common shares 36 months thereafter. 
 
 
Note 6 Related Party Transactions   
 
 

During the year, the Company incurred the following charges from directors of the Company and 
private companies controlled by directors of the Company: 

 
        2013    2012 
Accounting and administrative $    13,826 $  10,461 
Office 7,709 4,334 
Total $    11,535 $   14,795 
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Note 6 Related Party Transactions – (cont’d) 
 

These expenditures were measured by the exchange amount which is the amount agreed upon by the 
transacting parties. 

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $454 (2012-$Nil) due to related parties 
consisting of the reimbursement of expenses.  These amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and 
have no specific terms of repayment. 
 
 

Note 7 Management of Capital 
 
 The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital 
within a framework of acceptable risk.  In the management of capital, the Company includes the 
components of shareholders’ equity, as well as cash and cash equivalents.  There are no external 
restrictions on the use of the Company’s capital other than as provided in Policy 2.4 Capital Pool 
Companies of the TSX Venture Exchange.   

 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust its 
capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt, acquire or dispose of assets or 
adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents. 

 
The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and the 
Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior capital market and 
by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to this market, and its ability to compete for 
investor support. 

 
 
Note 8 Financial Instruments 
 

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Financial instruments must be classified at one of three levels within a fair value hierarchy according 
to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate their fair values. The three levels of the 
hierarchy are as follows: 

 
 
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2:  Inputs other than the quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability  
  either directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3:  Inputs that are not based on observable market data 

 
The following is an analysis of the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value as at August 31, 
2013 and August 31, 2012: 
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Note 8 Financial Instruments – (cont’d) 

 
 As at August 31, 2013 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Cash $ 3,808 $ - $ - 
 $ 3,808 $ - $ - 

 
 

 
 As at August 31, 2012 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Cash $ 153,255 $ - $ - 
 $ 153,255 $ - $ - 

 
Cash and cash equivalents as shown on the balance sheet are measured using Level 1. The Company 
does not have any financial instruments that are measured at fair value using Level 2 and 3 inputs.  

 
Foreign Exchange Risk 

 As at August 31, 2013, all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were held in Canadian dollars, 
the Company’s functional currency.  The Company has no operations in foreign jurisdictions outside 
of Canada at this time and as such has no currency risk associated with its operations. 

 
Credit Risk 

 Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and financial institutions.  The maximum exposure to 
credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets.  The Company’s cash is held with a 
large Canadian bank. 

 
 Interest Rate Risk 
 As at August 31, 2013 and August 31, 2012, the Company was not subject to or exposed to any 

interest rate risk. 
  

Liquidity Risk 
 The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalent balances to 

enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are 
current. 

 
 
Note 9 Supplemental Cash Flow and Non-cash Activities 
 

The components of cash and cash equivalents are as follows: 
 

  August 31,  
2013 

 August 31,  
2012 

 
Cash 

 
$ 

 
3,808 

 
$ 

 
11,353 

Guaranteed investment certificates  -  141,902 
 $ 3,808 $ 153,255 
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Note 10 Income Tax 

 
The reconciliation of the Canadian income tax provision computed at statutory rates to the reported 
income tax provision is as follows: 
         2013         2012 
Net loss $  (155,938) $    (90,325) 
Statutory rate    25.42%    25.50% 
Expected income tax recovery (39,639) (23,032) 
Net adjustment for deductible and non-deductible amounts      3,145      (2,320) 
Valuation allowance 36,494 25,352) 
Income tax recovery $            - $            - 
   

The significant components of the Company’s future income tax assets are as follows: 
 
      2013      2012 
Future income tax assets   
    Non-capital loss carried forward $    92,300) $    53,842) 
    Exploration and evaluation 5,200) -) 
    Share issuance costs      4,477)      6,962) 
Total    101,977)    60,804) 
Valuation allowance   (101,977)   (60,804) 
Future income taxes, net $              - $              - 
   

As at August 31, 2013, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for Canadian income tax 
purposes totaling approximately $355,000 expiring as follows: 
 
Year 

  

2030 $  15,000 
2031  97,000 
2032  99,000 
2033  144,000 
 $ 355,000 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

To the Directors of Lotus Ventures Inc., 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Lotus Ventures Inc. (formerly Jupiter Resources Corporation), which 
comprise the statements of financial position as at May 31, 2014 and August 31, 2013, and the statements of comprehensive loss, 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the nine month period ended May 31, 2014 and the year ended August 31, 
2013, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Lotus Ventures Inc. as at 
May 31, 2014 and August 31, 2013 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the nine month period ended May 31, 
2014 and the year ended August 31, 2013 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements which describes matters and conditions 
that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about Lotus Ventures Inc.’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. 
 
 
 
 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
November 28, 2014 
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 May 31,  August 31, 
 2014  2013 
    

ASSETS 
    

Current    
Cash $  76,293   $ - 
GST receivable 2,181  - 
Subscriptions receivable 105,000  - 

 183,474  - 
    
Non-current    

Option agreement (Note 4) 62,500  - 
Total assets $  245,974   $ - 
    

LIABILITIES 
    
Current    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $  26,000  $  - 
Total liabilities   26,000  - 
    

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
    
Share capital $  182,500   $ - 
Shares subscribed 105,000  - 
Deficit (67,526)  - 
   219,974  - 
 $  245,974   $ - 
    
 
Note 8 Subsequent Events 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Nine months   
 ended May 31,  Year ended 
 2014  August 31, 2013 
    
    

General and administrative expenses    
Legal fees  $ 67,526   $ - 
  $ (67,526)   $ - 

    
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.06)  $ - 
    
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 1,089,012  1 
    
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Common shares    
 Number of 

Shares 
 

Amount 
Shares 

Subscribed 
 

Deficit 
 

Total 
      

Balance, August 31, 2012 and August 31, 2013 1 $ - $ - $ - $ - 
      

Balance, August 31, 2013 1 $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Shares issued for assignment of option 5,750,000 62,500  -  - 62,500 
Shares issued for cash 5,999,999 120,000  -  - 120,000 
Shares subscribed  -  - 105,000  - 105,000 
Net loss  -  -  - (67,526) (67,526) 

Balance, May 31, 2014 11,750,000 $ 182,500 $ 105,000 $ (67,526) $ 219,974 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Nine months 
ended May 31, 

  
Year ended 

 2014  August 31, 2013 
    
Operating activities    

Net loss for the period $ (67,526)  $ - 
Changes in non-cash working capital items:    

GST receivable (2,181)  - 
Accounts payable 26,000  - 

  (43,707)  - 
    
Financing activity    
Shares issued for cash  120,000  - 
  120,000  - 
    
Increase in cash  76,293  - 
Cash, beginning of the period  -  - 
Cash, end of the period $ 76,293  $ - 
    

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Note 1  Nature and Continuance of Operations 
 

Lotus Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on January 29, 2007 under the Business 
Corporations Act (B.C.) as Jupiter Resources Corporation.  The Company was inactive until April 
2014. 
 
The Company intends, subject to regulatory and other approvals, to obtain a listing on the 
Canadian Securities Exchange by way of, amongst other requirements, the completion of a 
statutory amalgamation with Strachan Resources Ltd. (‘Strachan’), a public company the common 
shares of which have been listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (‘the Exchange’) as a 
Capital Pool Company, as defined by the Exchange, since December 2010. 
  
Under the terms of the amalgamation agreement (the ‘Transaction’) with Strachan, the 
shareholders of each of the Company and Strachan will exchange their respective shareholdings 
on a one-for-one basis for the share capital of a new corporation (‘Amalco’).    The effect of these 
exchanges, and other expected issuances of Amalco shares, will be that the current shareholders 
of the Company will control Amalco immediately subsequent to completion of the transaction.  
Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the transaction is expected to constitute an acquisition of 
Strachan by the Company.   
 
The Company’s Option Exercise Agreement, described in Note 4, forms the basis for the 
proposed Transaction with Strachan as its terms contemplate and require the completion of such a 
transaction whereby the Company obtains a listing to trade its common shares publicly.  
 
In connection with the transaction, Strachan is preparing a non-offering Prospectus in British 
Columbia, and these financial statements have been prepared for inclusion in that Prospectus. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes the 
Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets 
and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The Company has 
limited financial resources, no source of operating cash flow, and no assurances that sufficient 
funding, including adequate financing, will be available to conduct further development of its 
projects. 
 
The application of the going concern concept is dependent upon the Company’s ability to 
generate future profitable operations and receive continued financial support from its creditors 
and shareholders. These financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments that might be 
required should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore, be required 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at 
amounts differing from those reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Management plans to continue to pursue equity or debt financing to support operations. 
Management believes this plan will be sufficient to meet the Company’s liabilities and 
commitments as they become payable over the next twelve months. There can be no assurance 
that management’s plan will be successful. Failure to maintain the support of creditors and obtain 
additional external equity financing will cause the Company to curtail operations and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern will be impaired. The outcome of these matters 
cannot be predicted at this time.  These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
Refer to Note 8 – Subsequent Events. 
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Note 2 Basis of Preparation 
 
  Statement of Compliance 
 
  These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 
  Basis of Measurement 
 
  These financial statements have been prepared on a historical costs basis except for financial 

instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated 
at their fair value.  In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting.  

 
  These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s 

functional currency.  
  

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported expenses during the period. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.  
 

Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies 
 

   Financial instruments 
   
  Financial assets 
 
  The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the 

purpose for which the asset was acquired, as follows: 
 

   Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or 
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing such financial assets in the near 
term. They are carried in the statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss or income.  The Company has 
classified its cash as fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at cost less 
any provision for impairment. Individually significant receivables are considered for 
impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a 
specific counterparty will default.  The Company has classified its subscriptions receivable as 
loans and receivables. 

 
Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired, 
determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial 
asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the  
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Note 3  Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
 
carrying amount of the investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in the 
statements of comprehensive loss or income.  The Company has no held-to-maturity 
investments. 

 
Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are 
classified as available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale 
financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is 
removed from equity and recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss or income. 

    
  All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for 

impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different 
criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are 
described above. 

 
  Financial liabilities 
 
  The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the 

purpose for which the asset was acquired, as follows: 
 

  Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired or 
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing such financial liabilities in the near 
term. They are carried in the statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss or income.   

   
  Other financial liabilities: This category includes accounts payable and accrued liabilities, all of 

which are recognized at amortized cost. 
 

Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are recognized when they become identifiable, which is to say when they arise 
from contractual or other rights, or when they are separable, or capable of being sold, transferred, 
licensed, rented or exchanged.  They are initially recorded at cost, subject to the reliability of 
measurement, and are carried as assets to the extent that it is probable that future the economic 
benefits applicable to such costs will flow to the Company.  
 
The Company’s interest in the option agreement disclosed in Note 4 currently meets the definition 
of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life.  The Company assesses the carrying amount at 
year period end to determine whether events and circumstances require the impairment or 
reclassification of these costs. 

 
  Income taxes 
 

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax 
payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years. 
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Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
 
Deferred tax is recorded using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for 
temporary differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable loss; and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not 
consider it is probable that a future tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance 
against that excess. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis. 

   
  Share capital 
 
  Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of 

common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax 
effects. 
 

  Income (loss) per share 
 
  The Company presents basic and diluted income (loss) per share data for its common shares, 

calculated by dividing the loss attributed to common shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted income (loss) 
per share does not adjust the income (loss) attributed to common shareholders or the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive. 

 
  Related party transactions 
 
  Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 

other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.  Related party may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to 
be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related 
parties.  
 
Adoption of new and revised accounting standards and interpretations 

 
The following revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014 with earlier application permitted. The Company has assessed the impact of these standards 
and has determined that they would not have a material impact on the Company. 

 
• IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (January 1, 2014) 
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Note 3 Significant Accounting Policies – (cont’d) 
 

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (January 1, 2015) 
 

There are no other IFRS’s or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that are expected to 
have a material impact on the Company. 

 
Note 4  Option Agreement and Option Exercise Agreement 

 
On April 30, 2014 Lotus entered into an Assignment Agreement with Carl Busby. In 
consideration of the assignment of an underlying option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) 
described below, Lotus paid to Carl Busby $62,500 by the issuance of 3,500,000 common shares 
at a price of $0.005 per share and 2,250,000 common shares at a price of $0.02 per share.  Mr. 
Busby became a director and President of the Company on May 6, 2014.  Upon completion of the 
Transaction described in Note 1, Carl Busby will hold 6,000,000 common shares of Amalco or 
24.7% of the expected issued and outstanding common shares of Amalco at the completion of the 
Transaction.   
 
Upon completion of the Transaction, Amalco will have the right under an underlying Option 
Exercise Agreement to acquire a production facility and operating assets, to be operated under the 
Marijuana for Medical Purposes Regulation (‘MMPR’) upon obtaining a new production license.  
These assets currently produce medical marijuana pursuant to four licenses issued under the 
Medical Marijuana Access Regulations (‘MMAR’).     
 
Under the terms of the original Option Agreement, to complete its terms Amalco was to (a) invest 
$250,000 in the production facility and the process of applying for a license under the MMPR to 
produce and sell medical marijuana, in stages as follows: (i) $110,000 to be provided for this 
purpose within 6 months of the transfer of the Option to Amalco; (ii) a further $45,000 in 3 
months thereafter; (iii) a further $75,000 in 3 months thereafter; and (iv) a further $20,000 in 3 
months thereafter; (b) issue to the Optionor 2,000,000 common shares of Amalco as follows: (i) 
forthwith after the Option was transferred to Amalco, 1,000,000 shares subject to a four month 
hold period. 100,000 shares were to be delivered to the Optionor and 900,000 held by Amalco 
until it obtained a new license or the legal and regulatory regime changed so that it would be 
legally able to produce and sell marijuana; and (ii) at such time as either Amalco obtained a new 
license or the legal and regulatory regime changed so that it would legally be able to produce and 
sell marijuana, a further 1,000,000 shares would be held by Amalco subject to a share restriction 
agreement by which one share would be released to the Optionor for every $1 of net cash flow 
from operations as calculated by Amalco’s accountant annually and (c) beginning on the 9th 
month from closing of the Transaction, Amalco would pay $5,000 per month for the rent of the 
facility. 
 
Lotus entered into an Option Exercise Agreement dated September 1, 2014 with Carl Correia 
(“Correia”) and 0998918 B.C. Ltd. of Vernon, British Columbia which replaced in its entirety the 
Option Agreement.  Lotus issued 1,700,000 common shares to each of Correia and 0998918 B.C. 
Ltd. for a total of 3,400,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.02 per share. Lotus acquired 
Correia’s agreement to (a) be the Chief Operating Officer of Lotus and the Person in Charge in 
the MMPR Application (b) to prepare the MMPR application on behalf of Lotus; (c) assist Lotus 
to obtain approval of the application from Health Canada (d) assist Lotus to obtain the MMPR 
License; and (e) assist Lotus to negotiate a lease on the property on which the facility is located. 
Lotus also acquired Coreia’s know-how and experience regarding (a) the requirements with  
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Note 4  Option Agreement and Option Exercise Agreement – (cont’d) 
 
respect to the MMPR License process and requirements; (b) facility design for application for the 
MMPR License; (c) quality control pursuant to the MMPR License; (d) Security requirements 
pursuant to the MMPR License; (e) Recruitment of appropriate Alternate Person in Charge and 
Person in Charge of Quality Control; (f) knowledge regarding the growing of medical marijuana; 
and (g) all information, documents and records prepared with respect to the MMPR License 
application and all lease rights to the facility. 
 
Refer to Note 8 – Subsequent Events. 

 
Note 5  Share Capital 
 

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares 
without any special rights or restrictions. 
 
During the nine months ended May 31, 2014, the Company issued 5,999,999 common shares 
valued at $0.02 per share for $120,000.  The Company also issued 3,500,000 common shares at a 
price of $0.005 per share and 2,250,000 common shares at a price of $0.02 per share pursuant to 
its Option Agreement with Carl Busby (see Note 4).  

 
Note 6  Related Party Transactions  

 
During the nine months ended May 31, 2014, the Company incurred $67,526 (August 31, 2013 - 
$nil) in legal fees paid or accrued to a company controlled by a Company director.  The Company 
owed or had accrued as payable to this related party company $26,000 at May 31, 2014 (August 
31, 2013 - $nil). 
 

Note 7  Capital Management 
 

The Company’s financial instruments are exposed to the following risks: 
 
Credit Risk 
 
The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is the risk of illiquidity of cash amounting to 
$76,293 at May 31, 2014. As the Company’s policy is to limit cash holdings to instruments issued 
by major Canadian banks, or investments of equivalent or better quality, the credit risk is 
considered by management to be negligible. 

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets approximates the carrying amount. Financial 
instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels 
of the fair value hierarchy are: 
 

• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 

either directly or indirectly; and 
• Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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Note 7  Capital Management – (cont’d) 
 
The fair value classification of the Company’s financial instruments as at May 31, 2014 is as 
follows: 
 

  2014 
  

 
Fair value level 

 
Fair value through 

profit or loss 

Loans and 
receivables at 
amortized cost 

Financial assets    
Cash 1 $  76,293 $  - 
Subscriptions receivable   -  105,000 
  $  76,293 $  105,000 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2013 there were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and 
level 3 classified assets. 

 
Note 8  Subsequent Events 
 

• Subsequent to May 31, 2014, the Company issued 5,250,000 common shares for 
proceeds of $105,000 pursuant to subscription agreements entered into by the Company 
prior to May 31, 2014. 

 
• Dale McClanaghan was appointed President and CEO of the Company on July 4, 2014. 
 
• The Company entered into an Option Exercise Agreement dated September 1, 2014 with 

Carl Correia (“Correia”) and 0998918 B.C. Ltd. of Vernon British Columbia which 
replaced in its entirety the Option Agreement.  Pursuant to this agreement, the Company 
issued 1,700,000 shares each to Correia and 0998918 B.C. Ltd.  Each agreement is 
described in Note 4.  

 
• Strachan Resources Ltd. and the Company entered into an Amalgamation Agreement 

dated July 30, 2014. The amalgamated company is referred to below as “Amalco”. 
 
• Strachan Resources Ltd. and the Company amended the Amalgamation Agreement on 

September 1, 2014. The amendment was made to reflect the replacement of the Option 
Agreement with the Option Exercise Agreement dated September 1, 2014. 

 
• On October 20, 2014, Strachan shareholders approved the Amalgamation of Strachan 

Resources Ltd. and the Company. The text of this resolution is as disclosed in the 
Information Circular for the Meeting filed on SEDAR. 

 
• On October 8, 2014, the CSE gave conditional approval to the listing of Amalco on the 

CSE subject to the following conditions (a) shareholder approval of the amalgamation as 
described in the Information Circular dated September 19, 2014; (b) obtaining a receipt 
for this Prospectus from the British Columbia Securities Commission; (c) completion of 
the Financing, and (d) confirmation of sufficient shareholder distribution. 

 



LOTUS VENTURES INC. (formerly Jupiter Resources Corporation) 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED MAY 31, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

13 
 

Note 8  Subsequent Events – (cont’d) 
 

• On October 27, 2014, the Company completed a financing by way of a non-brokered 
private placement of a 1,374,000 post-consolidated commons shares at a price of $0.25 
per share for gross proceeds of $343,500. The Company paid finder’s fees of up to 10 
percent of the investment payable either in cash or in common shares at a deemed price 
of $0.25 per share. 

 
• On November 27, 2014, Strachan Resources Ltd. and the Company were amalgamated, 

resulting in the formation of Amalco, a public company.  Amalco was named Lotus 
Ventures Inc. 
 

• On November 28, 2014, Amalco filed a non-offering prospectus detailing the completed 
amalgamation. 
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LOTUS VENTURES INC. 
 

Pro-Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
 

May 31, 2014 



 
LOTUS VENTURES INC. 
PRO-FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(UNAUDITED - PREPARED BY MANAGEMENT) 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Strachan   Lotus  Pro-Forma  Note 3   
 Resources Ltd.  Ventures Inc.  Adjustments  Ref.  Pro-Forma 
             May 31, 2014  May 31, 2014         
             (Historical)  (Historical)         
ASSETS              
Current              

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,774  $ 76,293  $ 12,500  b  $ 431,317 
        300,000  b    
        (27,250)  c    
        105,000  d    
        (15,000)  e    
        (25,000)  f    
GST receivable  232   2,181   -     2,413 
Subscriptions receivable  -   105,000   (105,000)  d   - 

  5,006   183,474        433,730 
              
Non-current              

Option agreement  -   62,500   275,000     337,500 
Total assets $ 5,006  $ 245,974       $ 771,230 
              
LIABILITIES              
Current              

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 8,367  $ 26,000       $ 34,367 
  8,367   26,000        34,367 
              
Non-current              

Accounts payable $ 26,445  $ -       $ 26,445 
Total liabilities  34,812   26,000        60,812 
              
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY              
Share capital  318,507   182,500   (318,507)   a   807,750 
        12,500  b    
        300,000  b    
        250,000  b    
        (27,250)  c    
        105,000  d    
        (15,000)  e    
Shares subscribed  -   105,000   (105,000)  d   - 
Reserves  41,200   -   (41,200)  a   - 
Deficit  (389,513)   (67,526)   389,513  a                     - 
        (29,806)  a   (97.332) 
  (29,806)   219,974        710,418 
 $ 5,006  $ 245,974       $ 771,230 
              

See accompanying notes to these unaudited pro-forma financial statements. 



LOTUS VENTURES INC. 
PRO-FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(UNAUDITED - PREPARED BY MANAGEMENT) 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

 Strachan  Lotus  Pro-Forma   
 Resources Ltd.   Ventures Inc.  Adjustments  Pro-Forma 
           (9 months ended  (9 months ended       
 May 31, 2014)  May 31, 2014)       
           (Historical)  (Historical)       
General and administrative expense            

            
Accounting fees $ 4,393  $ -     $ 4,393 
Bank charges  117   -      117 
Filing and listing fees  8,531   -      8,531 
Legal  325   67,526      67,851 
Marketing  75   -      75 
Office expense   4,011   -      4,011 
Travel expense  427   -      427 

  17,879   67,526      85,405 
            

Financing cost – refund  (5,000)   -      (5,000) 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period $ 12,879  $ 67,526     $ 80,405 

            
Net loss per share – basic and diluted          $ 0.00 
            
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted      24,200,000 
            

See accompanying notes to these unaudited pro-forma financial statements.  
 



LOTUS VENTURES INC. 
NOTES TO PRO-FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(UNAUDITED - PREPARED BY MANAGEMENT) 
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Note 1 Basis of Presentation 
 
  The unaudited pro-forma condensed consolidated financial statements of Strachan Resources Ltd. (‘Strachan’) 

have been prepared by management for illustrative purposes to show the effect of the statutory amalgamation of 
Strachan and Lotus Ventures Inc. (‘Lotus’) to form a new entity (‘Amalco’), after giving effect to the proposed 
transactions described in Note 3. 

  
  These unaudited pro-forma financial statements are not intended to reflect the results of operations or the financial 

position of Amalco which would actually have actually resulted had the proposed transaction taken place as 
indicated.   Further, they are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be obtained in the 
future.  In addition, the impact of the integration of activities, the timing of completion of the amalgamation and of 
other changes in the consolidated entity’s net tangible and intangible assets prior to the completion on the 
amalgamation, which have not been included herein, could cause material differences in the information 
presented. 

   
  The pro-forma condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared from information derived from, 

and should be read in conjunction with, the following: 
 

• The unaudited interim financial statements of Strachan as at and for the three and nine month periods 
ended May 31, 2014, included in Strachan’s Prospectus dated November 28, 2014 (the ‘Prospectus’) 

• The audited interim financial statements of Lotus as at and for the nine month period ended May 31, 
2014 and the audited annual financial statements of Lotus as at and for the year ended August 31, 2013, 
included in the Prospectus. 

• The audited financial statements of Strachan as at and for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, 
also included in the Prospectus. 

 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position of Amalco as at May 31, 2014 has been 
presented as if the amalgamation transaction had occurred on that date. The unaudited statement of operations has 
been presented as if the amalgamation transaction had occurred on September 1, 2013.  Both pro-forma financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 
 
It is management’s opinion that these unaudited pro-forma condensed consolidated financial statements include all 
the adjustments necessary from the fair presentation of the amalgamation transaction in accordance with IFRS.  
Actual amounts recorded upon consummation of the amalgamation will likely differ from those recorded in these 
unaudited pro-forma condensed consolidated financial statements. 

 
  These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional currency of both 

Strachan and Lotus.  
  
Note 2  The Amalgamation Transaction 
 
  The amalgamation is envisioned to be completed by the holders of the of issued and outstanding share capital of 

each of Strachan and Lotus all exchanging their shareholdings, on a one-for-one basis, for newly-issued share 
capital of Amalco. 

 
  The amalgamation transactions have been accounted for herein in accordance with IFRS 2, Share Based 

Payments.   Lotus is considered to be the acquirer for accounting purposes as the former shareholders of Lotus will 
control the consolidated entity subsequent to completion of the amalgamation transaction.  The amalgamation 
transaction therefore results, in these pro-forma condensed financial statements, in the presentation of Lotus as the 
continuing entity for accounting purposes. 

   
Upon completion of the amalgamation, Amalco will have the rights under an Option Agreement to acquire a 
production facility and operating assets, to be operated under the Marijuana for Medical Purposes Regulation 
(‘MMPR’) upon obtaining a new production license.  These assets currently produce medical marijuana pursuant 
to four licenses issued under the Medical Marijuana Access Regulations (‘MMAR’).    

 
Note 3  Pro-Forma Transactions and Assumptions 
 

a) For accounting purposes, the amalgamation is considered to be a capital transaction involving the purchase of 
an inactive public shell, Strachan, by Lotus.  Lotus is therefore considered to be the acquirer for accounting 



LOTUS VENTURES INC. 
NOTES TO PRO-FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(UNAUDITED - PREPARED BY MANAGEMENT) 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
purposes, and Strachan the acquired entity.  The negative book value of Strachan’s net identifiable assets at 
May 31, 2014 of $29,806 is therefore charged to consolidated deficit, and Strachan’s equity accounts at that 
date are eliminated in these pro-forma financial statements. Amalco will issue 22 million common shares 
pursuant to the share exchange described in Note 2 above, of which 17 million shares will be issued to the 
current shareholders of Lotus. 

  
b) Amalco shares issued to Strachan founders immediately following the amalgamation  – 2,500,000 @ $0.005 

per share = $12,500 
 
Non-brokered private placement to be completed immediately following the amalgamation – 1,200,000 
shares @ $0.25 per share = $300,000 
 
Initial shares to Optionor – 1,000,000 @ deemed price of $0.25 per share = $250,000 
 

c) Estimated legal fees to complete amalgamation - $12,000 
Estimated regulatory fees - $15,250 
 

d) Payment of $105,000 for previously-subscribed shares of Lotus. 
 

e) Finder’s fee on non-brokered private placement – Amalco may pay up to 10% finder’s fees in cash or 
Amalco shares at a deemed price of $0.25 per share. An estimate of $15,000, or 10% of $150,000, is used 
herein. 

 
f) License Application costs for MMPR - $25,000 

 
Note 4 Pro-Forma Equity at May 31, 2014 
 

 Number of 
shares 

  
Amount 

Shares 
subscribed 

 
Reserves 

 
Deficit 

 #  $ $ $ $ 
       
Strachan Resources Ltd. equity balances at May 31, 2014 4,000,000  318,507 - 41,200 (389,513) 
Lotus Ventures Inc. equity balances at May 31, 2014 11,750,000  182,500 105,000 - (67,526) 
Elimination of Strachan’s equity accounts  -  (318,507) - (41,200) 389,513 
Strachan’s negative book value of net identifiable assets 
charged to deficit 

 
- 

  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(29,806) 

Cancellation of Strachan shares held in escrow prior to the 
Amalgamation 

 
(1,500,000) 

  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Conversion of outstanding share subscriptions in Lotus to 
share capital 

 
5,250,000 

  
105,000 

 
(105,000) 

 
- 

 
- 

Issuance of Amalco shares to Strachan founders 
immediately following the Amalgamation 

 
2,500,000 

  
12,500 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Legal and regulatory fees for the Amalgamation -  (27,250) - - - 
Non-brokered private placement to be completed 
immediately following the Amalgamation 

 
1,200,000 

  
300,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Finder’s fee on non-brokered private placement -  (15,000) - - - 
Initial Amalco shares issued to Optionor under Option 
Agreement 

 
1,000,000 

  
250,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Pro-forma Amalco equity, May 31, 2014 24,200,000  807,750 - - (97,332) 
 

Note 5 Pro-Forma Loss Per Amalco Shares 
 
The pro-forma basic and diluted loss per share for the nine-month period ended May 31, 2014 has been calculated 
assuming that all Amalco shares issued in the amalgamation transactions were issued on August 31, 2013. 
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CERTIFICATE OF LOTUS VENTURES INC. 

Dated: November 28, 2014 
 
The foregoing constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 
securities previously issued by the issuer as required by Part 9 of the Securities Act (British 
Columbia) and the regulations thereunder. 
 

“Dale McClanaghan” “Gary Mathiesen” 
DALE MCCLANAGHAN GARY MATHIESEN 
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
   
“Stephen Mathiesen”       “Carl Busby” 
STEPHEN MATHIESEN    CARL BUSBY 
Director Director  
 
 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE PROMOTER 

  
“Carl Busby”  
CARL BUSBY  
Promoter   
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3. Schedule B: Section 14: Capitalization table required by Listing Statement as  
outlined in Section 14. 

 
14.  Capitalization 
 
14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed: 

 
Issued Capital 
 

 Number of 
Securities  
(non-
diluted) 

Number of 
Securities  
(fully-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued 
(fully 
diluted) 

Public Float     
     
Total outstanding (A) 26,774,000 28,274,000 100 100 
     
Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Issuer or Related Person of the Issuer, or by 
persons or companies who beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or conversion of other 
securities held) (B) 

13,753,500 
 

14,553,500 
 

51.4 51.5 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 13,020,500 13,720,500 48.6 48.5 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float     
     
Number of outstanding securities subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other arrangements or in 
a shareholder agreement and securities held by 
control block holders (C) 

16,077.500 
 

16,824,000 59.8 59.5 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 10,696,500 11,450,000 40.2 40.5 
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Public Security holders (Registered) 
Instruction: For the purposes of this report, “public securityholders” are persons other than 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 
 
Class of Security:  Common Shares 
Size of Holding Number of Holders Total number of Securities  
1 – 99 securities 0  
100 – 499 securities 0  
500 – 999 securities 0  
1,000 – 1,999 securities 0  
2,000 – 2,999 securities 0  
3,000 – 3,999 securities 0  
4,000 – 4,999 securities 1 4,000 
5,000 or more securities 30 13,016,500 
 31 13,020,500 

 
Public Security holders (Beneficial) 
 
Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For 
the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by 
number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific 
beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will 
not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such 
intermediaries in the last line. 
 
Class of Security: Common Shares 
 
Size of Holding Number of Holders Total number of Securities  
1 – 99 securities   
100 – 499 securities   
500 – 999 securities 163 over 500 (don’t know 

max)  
1,864,500 

1,000 – 1,999 securities   
2,000 – 2,999 securities   
3,000 – 3,999 securities   
4,000 – 4,999 securities 1 4,000 
5,000 or more securities 29 10,516,500 
Unable to confirm Shareholders over 193 635,500  

 
 
Non-Public Security holders (Registered) 
 
Instruction: For the purposes of this report, “non-public securityholders” are persons enumerated 
in section (B) of the issued capital chart. 
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Class of Security: Common Shares 
 
 
Size of Holding Number of Holders Total number of Securities  
1 – 99 securities 0 0 
100 – 499 securities 0 0 
500 – 999 securities 0 0 
1,000 – 1,999 securities 0 0 
2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0 
3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0 
4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0 
5,000 or more securities 6 13,753,500 
 6 13,753,500 

 
14.2  Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into 

any class of listed securities 
 
Description of Security 
(include conversion / 
exercise terms, including 
conversion / exercise price) 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

Options(1)(2) 1,500,000 1,500,000 
1. 500,000 options are exercisable at $0.10 per share. 300,000 of these options will expire 

on Dec 24, 2015 and 200,000 of these options will expire 90 days after Nov 27, 2014, 
being the date of amalgamation. 

2. 1,000,000 options are exercisable at $0.25 per share and will expire 5 years from listing 
on the CSE. 

 
 
14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that re not included in 

section 14.2. 
  
 None 
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